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Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased to present the Annual Report for 2021 of the Bank Leumi
(UK) Group.
Interest income increased by 7% to £43.3 million in 2021. This increase
was attributable to growth in customer lending across the Property and
the Asset Based Lending business. Net Interest Expense reduced by
45% to £5.8 million driven by fixed term deposits maturing and
customers agreeing to fix at lower market rates or rotation to
additional floating rate funding from the parent company, Bank Leumi
le-Israel B.M.
Credit impairment losses decreased by £7.7 million (2020: increased
£6.5 million) attributable to £2.6 million write back of provisions for
IFRS 9 Stage 3 credit impaired debts. The remaining decrease of £5.1
million pertain to non-impaired debts refinanced by external financiers
as the Bank continue to streamline and derisk its business model to
serve its Property and Hotel customers. These factors led to
consolidated net profit in the year of £17.1 million, compared to a net
loss in 2020 of £4.0 million.
With renewed business focus, Leumi UK sought to align its operating
model to better support the business and reduce operational risk and
processing times. 2021 was also the final year for administering
Sterling LIBOR instruments as the Bank and our customers have
transitioned to alternative benchmark rates before a regulatory
deadline set at the end of 2021. Leumi UK moved into new premises
in the City of London aligning with its commercial customer base, and
reducing its office footprint by two thirds through a combination of an
adjusted workforce and the introduction of a hybrid working model to
respond to changing work practices due to Covid.
Total operating income before loan impairment charges increased £9.7
million or 25% to £48.0 million. Net interest income increased £7.5
million to £37.5 million, due to net growth in customer lending and a
decrease in funding costs . Fees and commission income increased by
£1.2 million due to greater service and arrangement fees recognised in
Leumi ABL, and an increase in lending related fees in the Bank.
Administrative expenses fell £2.7 million partly due to lower premises
related costs and partly due to the reclassification of rent costs as
depreciation under IFRS 16 Leases. Depreciation and amortisation
costs increased £0.5 million due to the lease at Angel Court being
accounted for as depreciation under IFRS 16.
With respect to Leumi ABL Limited, the asset based lender, the
economic recovery has seen client advances increase during the year
as their cash flow requirements return to normality. There was a
£144.8 million increase in funds in use in 2021, ending the year at
£407.8 million. Net profit was£3.8 million compared with £2.3 million
in 2020. Impairment charges were kept to a minimal level reflecting
the continued focus on effective credit management.
The Bank’s capital and liquidity ratios remained above regulatory limits
throughout the year.
In line with Financial Reporting requirements, the detailed results for
the year and a full business, operating and financial review can be
found in the Strategic Report.
I would also draw attention to the recent decision of the Bank,
described more fully in the ‘Looking Ahead’ section of the report, to
take steps to implement an internal business restructure.

Key Financials of the Year Include:


Net profit of £17.1 million, compared with a loss of £4.0 million
in 2020.



Tier 1 capital ratio of 17.0%, compared with 19.1% in 2020.



Decrease of £7.7 million in respect of credit impairment
allowances, compared with an increase of £6.5 million in 2020.



Operating income before provisions for continuing operations
of £48.0 million, compared with £38.3 million in 2020, an
increase of £9.7 million or 25%.



Administrative expenses for continuing operations of £30.9
million, compared with £33.6 million in 2020, a decrease of £2.7
million or 8%.



Customer lending of £1,334 million, compared with £1,061
million in 2020, an increase of £273 million or 26%, driven by
strong growth in our core sectors of Property and Hotel Finance
and Asset Based Finance.



Customer deposits of £647 million, compared with £670 million
in 2020, a decrease of £23 million or 3%. Underlying growth was
positive with the decrease arising in the Commodities business
which has been wound down.

Directors, Management and Staff
I would like to thank my fellow Directors for their contribution over the
past year. Special thanks are extended to Michael Schiller our CEO for
his leadership as well as to the management and staff for their efforts
and achievements as we emerge following the worst of the pandemic.
2021 saw two of the non-executive Directors ceasing to serve on the
Board – Michael Green and Ronen Agassi. I would like to extend my
appreciation to each of them for all their contributions, efforts and
work.
We also welcomed Louise McCarthy as an independent non-executive
Director onto the Board, and we look forward to benefitting from her
expertise. Lastly, I would like to extend my welcome to Eyal Ben-Haim
as a non-executive Director. Eyal is also the current serving Chief
Operating Officer of Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M.

Shmulik Arbel
Chairman of the Board of Directors
28 April 2022

Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors and Management continue to promote and to
maintain a sound system of corporate governance in compliance with
applicable regulatory requirements. We underwent a reshaping of the
Board of Directors, as expanded upon below. We have also continued
to promote the building of strong internal controls and targeted
training programmes to ensure employees understand their
responsibilities.
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Strategic Report
The Leumi Group has been active in the UK since 1902. Bank Leumi
(UK) plc (‘Leumi UK’ / ‘the Bank’) is a subsidiary of the Leumi Group.

Inevitably the lasting impact of Covid has shaped many of our day-today interactions with customers and in order to support impacted
customers we became a part of the British Business Bank Coronavirus
Business Interuption Loan Scheme (CBILS) and Recovery Loan Scheme
(RLS). This ensured that Leumi UK customers could compete on a levelplaying field with their peers in accessing much needed working capital.

Founded in 1959 and headquartered in London, Leumi UK provides
lending and related banking services to corporate clients with a focus
on Property and Hotel Finance. Leumi ABL Limited, a subsidiary of
Leumi UK, provides asset based finance and is based in Brighton.

Despite the significant headwinds, we were able to make further
strides in our growth strategy throughout 2021, which has turned out
to be a record year with over £575m of new lending facilities to support
new and existing customers in delivering their goals.

Strategy statement
We are a specialist lender with a UK focus and we also benefit from
close ties to Europe and Israel.

We have also re-shaped our deposit gathering activities both to reflect
our Corporate Banking focus and changing market trends in accessing
best priced deposit products, primarily through both deposit platforms
and deposit aggregators.

Activities

Our strategy for the next few years is to develop and cement our
position as one of London’s leading specialist lenders to the Property
and Hotel sectors.
Our highly regarded sector-focused teams are true experts, bringing
knowledge and experience to every relationship. In turn our customers
value that relationship as much as we do, trusting us to deliver on our
promises and to support them through every challenge.

Covid

The COVID Task Force continued to monitor new legislation and
government guidance for mitigating the risks associated with
workplace transmission of coronavirus.
Bank staff responded commendably to the need to work from home.
Currentlya hybrid working policy, governing a blend of working from
home and working from the office, is in effect and will ensure both that
operational processes remain resilient, and that we can continue to
act responsively should the situation change rapidly.
Fortunately there were low levels of staff illness. Open communication
with staff during a period of change was instrumental in ensuring the
continuity of operations throughout the pandemic.

LIBOR cessation

The compilation of daily published Sterling, Euro, Swiss and Yen LIBOR
from panel bank submissions has ceased after 31st December 2021.
However, pursuant to the Benchmark Regulation reform enacted
through the Financial Services Act 2021, the administrator of LIBOR has
been compelled to publish a synthetic version of LIBOR, at least for one
more year, to aid counterparties yet to agree switching terms of their
tough legacy contracts.

Property Finance
Leumi UK focuses on financing across the Property sector, including
investment and construction of residential, mixed use and commercial
assets, serviced by a growing team of Property Finance experts led by
Peter Clayton who we were delighted chose to join Leumi UK in April
2021.
As well as continuing to support our long-standing customers, 2021
saw Leumi UK step into the gap when mainstream Property Finance
lenders, including High Street banks, reduced their lending appetite.
Our relationship team’s ability to act quickly and decisively to provide
credit-backed terms allowed us to develop relationships with some of
the sector’s highest quality clients and from these initial opportunities,
we aim to build long-term relationships of our own. This was ably
demonstrated in the Care sector, where our capability and expertise
was called on to finance nine new-builds and six existing operating care
homes for four key operators, all of which were new relationships to
Leumi UK.
Building on Leumi UK’s strong reputation as a development finance
lender, in late 2021 we extended corporate lending to the residential
letting sector, particularly in development of UK Build To Rent schemes
and have recently completed funding for over 2000 new affordable
rental homes in the greater London area. This demonstration of our
ability to step-up to provide larger facilities for larger schemes places
Leumi UK squarely in the market, a position we aim to develop
substantially in 2022 and beyond.
The Property and Hotel teams were extremely proud to be shortlisted
for Property Financier of the year at both ‘The Props’ and the Property
Week Awards in 2021. Having never entered before, to be recognised
by the judges was a real reflection of the progress Leumi UK has made
in the last 2 years.

Across the Bank and its subsidiary, all customer contracts referenced
to LIBOR have either already switched to an alternative benchmark rate
prior to 31st December 2021 or an agreement has been reached to
automatically switch to an alternative benchmark rate from the first
interest period start date in 2022. There has been no customer
contracting requiring the use of synthetic LIBOR.

Hotel Finance
The Bank has been providing hotel finance for over ten years to clients
mainly in the UK and Western Europe, focusing on development
finance for new build projects, conversions and renovations as well as
investment finance for established trading hotels.

Review of Business

As the sector operational challenges of 2020 rolled into 2021, our team
of experts worked tirelessly to support our hotel operator clients
ensuring that their businesses were able to flourish when lockdown
was lifted in the summer.

Corporate Banking

2021 has been a pivotal year for Leumi UK, with the business having
implemented the strategic shift to a greater focus on financing core
assets in the Property and Hotel sectors in UK & Europe, while
continuing to support new and long-standing customers through the
impacts of the Covid pandemic.
In accordance with Leumi UK’s strategic focus on activity related to
Property Finance and Hotel Finance, we exited the Trade & Commercial
Finance business by the end of 2021.

Leumi UK’s Hotel Finance specialists spoke at a number of sector round
tables and conferences in 2021, not least about the importance of
strong customer-bank relationships becoming true partnerships in
challenging circumstances.
The recovery pre-Omicron Covid variant showed the resilience and
hard work of everyone involved and we look forward to growing our
business and helping customers in the sector recover and flourish.
Leumi UK agreed to finance multiple new hotel developments in 2021,
showing the confidence in the sector that few other lenders did,
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allowing us again to attract top quality operators with insight, expertise
and support.

Risk Management

We are proud that we have continued to support our clients (both
existing and new) across the hospitality sector throughout the
pandemic and we look-forward to sharing their success in the future.

Introduction
The activities of the Bank entail risk taking throughout its business. This
section provides a summary of these risks, and outlines the processes
for identifying and managing them. The Bank’s approach to nurturing
a proactive risk aware culture is also described.

Asset Based Lending, Factoring and Invoice
Discounting

Our Brighton based subsidiary, Leumi ABL Limited, undertakes AssetBased Lending to a wide range of businesses, enabling them to raise
working capital against the value of their assets. Leumi ABL Limited
provides receivables finance, stock, plant and machinery finance and
term loans to businesses spanning many sectors.
Facilities secured against business assets, combined with the tight
monitoring and control offered by Leumi ABL Limited, can often offer
higher levels of funding than traditional lending, while maintaining an
attractive risk profile.
Covid continued to provide many challenges for Leumi ABL Limited to
deal with but once again it has come through strongly. Leumi ABL
Limited has seen strong new business and portfolio growth thereby
demonstrating the resilience of the Asset-Based Lending model and the
flexibility it provides to businesses. During 2021 the Governmentbacked CBILS scheme was replaced by the Recovery Loan Scheme (RLS)
and Leumi ABL Limited, together with Leumi UK, became accredited by
the British Business Bank to provide RLS facilities which, like CBILS,
have proved extremely beneficial to both existing and new clients that
have been adversely affected by Covid.
Leumi ABL Limited has retained and strengthened its strategy of
working closely with the Private Equity and Corporate Finance
communities, once again seeing multiple transactions involving Private
Equity sponsors.
UK award wins
Thanks to its high quality team and proactive leadership, Leumi ABL
Limited has once again re-affirmed its now well-established reputation
as a leading player within the UK asset-based finance market.
Continued strong relationships with regional deal-making, professional
advisory and private equity communities have resulted in Leumi ABL
Limited once again winning a number of industry awards in 2021 for
‘Asset Backed Lender of the Year, UK’:
 ACQ Gamechangers Global Awards
 M&A Today Global Awards
 Finance Monthly Global Awards
Despite the ongoing economic uncertainty provided by both Covid,
supply chain issues and increasing energy prices, Leumi ABL Limited has
maintained a strong reputation as a mid-market Asset-Based Lender
with a strong portfolio of performing clients, which continues to grow
and expand, providing robust income flows.
Leumi ABL Limited remains a significant and growing proportion of our
business and forms a major part of the future growth strategy of Leumi
UK.
For further details of any of our products and services, please visit:
www.bankleumi.co.uk

Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF)
The ERMF sets out the strategy and process for the management of
enterprise-wide risk management within a defined framework that
supports senior management in its implementation and maintenance.
The ERMF sets out:
 Risk Governance
 Risk Culture
 Risk Management Cycle
 Risk Appetite
Risk Governance
The Board of Directors and senior management have established an
organisational culture that supports robust risk management practices
and sets appropriate standards and incentives for accountable and
professional behaviour.
The Board of Directors bears the ultimate responsibility for the Bank’s
risk management.
It will:
 Through its sub-committees promote a risk aware culture and
support processes to enable a broad understanding of the nature
and extent of risk.
 Be responsible for the establishment of sub-committees where
relevant, primarily a Risk Committee and a Credit Committee.
 Be aware of the major aspects of risk and the management thereof.
Three Lines of Defence
All managers are responsible for risk within their area of responsibility
and must have the necessary insight into and knowledge of their
respective operating units. The Bank follows a ‘3 lines of defence’
model when considering risk:
 First Line encompasses all business, control and support units.
Business Heads are responsible for managing the risks inherent in
the products, activities, processes and systems within their sphere
of responsibility. The First Line is responsible for identifying,
reporting and mitigating risks that they become aware of within its
area of responsibility and within its key processes and activities.
Managers must be aware at all times of the actual risk level and the
measures that can be implemented to mitigate or control risks.
 Second Line encompasses the whole Risk & Compliance functions
which incorporates the Bank’s Anti Money Laundering team. This
second line of defence is independent of the businesses and central
functions. The second line supports a structured approach to risk
management by maintaining and implementing the risk
management framework, supplemental frameworks and Groupwide risk policies. The second line monitors the execution and
ongoing self-assurance testing by the first line of defence. It also
provides independent oversight and guidance on risks relevant to
our strategy and activities, maintains an aggregate view of risk, and
monitors performance in relation to our risk appetite.
 Third Line is Internal Audit. Internal Audit provides independent
assurance to the Board that the first and second lines of defence are
each effective in discharging their respective responsibilities.
The second and third lines of defence must remain independent of the
day to day business processes, and monitor the control environment
effectively providing assurance to senior management that controls are
operating as expected and are sufficient to keep residual risk within
appetite.
Risk Committees
There are three Board-level forums which oversee the application of
the ERMF and review and monitor risks across the Bank. These are:
The Risk Committee of the Board, the Audit and Remuneration
Committee of the Board and the Credit Committee of the Board.
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Risk Committee of the Board (RCOB)
The Risk Committee, under authority delegated by the Board, is
responsible for ensuring that the Bank has robust risk management
systems and controls and for monitoring the Bank's current and future
exposure to risks. This will include examining areas of management
responsibility, reporting and accountability.

considering all credit risk exposures that ultimately fall for ratification
by the Board Credit Committee to whom it reports.

The Risk Committee, on an annual basis, makes recommendations to,
and advises, the Board on the Bank's risk exposure policy, risk appetite,
risk governance framework and capital adequacy requirements. The
term risk appetite includes the categories and amount of risk that the
Board regards as acceptable for the Bank to bear. The term risk
governance framework includes policies, methodologies, systems,
processes, procedures and people.
The Risk Committee further advises the Board on the Bank's risk
management obligations imposed by the PRA, the FCA and any other
relevant regulatory authority and advises, oversees and challenges as
necessary in order to embed and maintain a supportive risk culture
throughout the Bank. Each quarter, the Risk Committee receives the
Chief Risk Officer’s report which includes the Conduct Risk Dashboard.

Risk Culture
The Bank defines its target Risk Management Culture as:
“Every employee understands the importance of risk management and
is aware of the risks they face in the execution of their tasks and
activities. Every employee has responsibility for reporting and
escalating breaches identified and taking appropriate and relevant
actions to anticipate, prevent and mitigate risks. The Bank has
established a ‘no blame’ risk culture; one which encourages staff to
report risk issues in an open and honest manner.”

Audit and Remuneration Committee (A&RC)
The Audit and Remuneration Committee, under authority delegated by
the Board, is responsible for reviewing the appropriateness and
effectiveness of the Bank’s systems and controls, including but not
limited to the review of accounting principles and practices, and
compliance with relevant regulatory requirements. The A&RC effects
this partially through overseeing the activities of the Compliance
function and Internal Audit, and also through its engagement with the
Bank’s external auditor. The A&RC responsibility extends to periodic
review and approval of the Bank’s Remuneration Policy and ensuring
compliance with the Remuneration Code.

The continuous development and review of desired Culture and
Conduct priorities for the Bank are made in conjunction with the
strategic planning cycle and the risk strategy. The CEO of the Bank
outlines the priorities in Culture and Conduct based on the medium and
long-term business and risk strategies.

Board Credit Committee (BCC)
The Credit Committee, under authority delegated by the Board, is
responsible for considering and ratifying credit arrangements with
customers in amounts greater than those limits extended to the Bank’s
Credit Risk Management Committee (CRMC) and the Credit Committee
of Leumi ABL Limited. The BCC oversees the work and activities of
these two credit committees.
The Bank has five Management Committees which report directly or
indirectly into the Board Committees. They are responsible for
formulating the relevant strategies and policies for the risks that
emanate from their areas of responsibility.
Risk Management Committee (RMC)
The RMC has prime responsibility for the Bank’s risk management
structure and strategy. This includes the annual assessment of the
Bank’s risk appetite; the identification, management and
apportionment of risk to relevant risk owners; the review and
agreement of regular Group assessments of compliance, fraud and
embezzlement, legal, operational, and financial risks, and approval of
the resulting documentation prior to submission to the RCOB or A&RC
for approval. It will consider significant risk issues as escalated by the
Chief Risk Officer.
Operational Risk Management Committee (ORMC)
The primary responsibility of the ORMC is to provide independent
reporting of Operational Risk to Senior Management. As such, the
main purpose of the Committee is to review all ‘actual’ Operational Risk
Events (where an issue has crystallised and there is a financial or nonfinancial impact). Event details, root-cause, control failures and actions
agreed will be discussed to allow ORMC members to raise any concerns
which need to be addressed. Near-miss events will be reviewed at the
ORMC if the Chairman deems relevant due to materiality of the nearmiss event or upon request by any member of the ORMC.
Asset Liability Committee (ALCO)
The ALCO has prime responsibility for Balance Sheet Asset and Liability
management, together with the management and monitoring of
market risk arising in all areas of the Bank.
Credit Risk Management Committee (CRMC)
The CRMC is responsible for considering and approving credit risk
exposures at a lower level than the Board Credit Committee as well as

Financial Crime Risk Management Committee (FCRMC)
The FCRMC has responsibility for managing the Bank’s Anti Money
Laundering and Counter Terrorist Financing framework.

The Culture and Conduct component of the ERMF helps to align the
Bank’s risk management systems with its target organisational
behaviour and values for risk management.

The Culture and Conduct Framework sets out the way in which conduct
and culture manifests itself at the Bank as well as the values and
behaviours expected from all staff. Those behaviours are observed
through Conduct Metrics which are reported to Risk Management
Committee (RMC) and Risk Committee of the Board (RCOB). In
addition, audit findings are reported as part of a dedicated audit report
for this area, and submitted to the Audit and Remuneration Committee
(A&RC). An overall assessment of the Bank’s Conduct and Culture is
part of the Internal Audit annual summary report to the A&RC, which
is based on the different audit tasks which were conducted during the
year.
Conduct is assessed against standards in line with the risk appetite of
the Bank; action must be taken if any team or individual falls below
required standards.
The Leumi Principles
The Enterprise-wide culture, principles and organisational behaviour
promoted at Leumi UK support its risk management system. They
ensure that everyone’s understanding of Leumi UK’s approach to
business conduct, risk management and regulatory compliance is
aligned with the overarching business priority, namely: our continued
client-centric priority to provide a first class service supported by
speedy decision making and excellent execution capabilities.
The alignment of Corporate Principles with risk management is
articulated in the ERMF document which is Board approved
annually. The aim of our Principles is to promote clear and
understandable expectations whilst supporting Leumi UK’s regulatory
obligations and aspirations.
Our Principles are:
 Transparency: We communicate honestly, and are open about the
actions we take.
 Empowerment: We have a can do attitude and lead by example.
 Anticipation: We are curious, forward thinking and solutions
focused.
 Membership: We work mindfully with integrity towards a common
purpose.
Risk Management Cycle
Risk Identification
Risk identification is a key element in an effective risk management
framework.
Risk identification considers internal factors (i.e.
organisational structure, nature of the Bank's activities and
organisational changes) and external factors (e.g. technological
developments).
Risk identification is the responsibility of the business and support
function heads. The framework used for risk identification includes all

5

risk categories at an enterprise-wide level. Risks are identified
following a top-down approach which includes scenarios workshops,
horizon screening/scanning and strategic reflection at Board and
Senior Management level. Risk identification is part of the business
and strategic planning at the Bank.
Top-down risk identification is supported by bottom-up risk
identification (i.e. financial and non-financial risks at process levels are
identified and assessed by the business lines with the support of the
risk function, using different methods depending on the risk type
considered). Specific risk policies and procedures present those
methods and their application.
As a result of risk identification, our enterprise-wide risk taxonomy is
developed in order to assist with consistent reporting to Senior
Management and the Board. The Bank has defined the following
material risk categories at enterprise level: Credit, Capital, Liquidity,
Operational, Financial Crime, Legal, Compliance and Market.
Risk Assessment
Financial risks such as Credit, Market and Liquidity risk are assessed
using data-based approaches, while non-financial risk assessment
includes expert opinions from risk owners and specialists, informed by
past incidents at the Bank, peer firms or emerging risks in the financial
services industry (e.g. Cyber threats) and is undertaken in accordance
with the Bank’s risk-rating methodology. Details of risk assessment
methods and processes are described in the specific risk policies.
A risk assessment must be undertaken for:





New process and activities;
Changes to processes and activities;
Risks following an operational risk event taking place, or
When there is a change in the risk profile due a change in:
o Business or operational processes;
o Implementation of new controls;
o Operational systems;
o Bank Operational Risk Policy
o Activity volume;
o Organisational structure;
o Distribution channels; or
o Products.

Significant findings in any Audit Reports are taken into consideration as
well.
Risk Mitigation
Risk responses commonly include acceptance (without further action),
transfer (through insurance or third parties), mitigation (risk reduction
typically through controls) and termination (avoidance of exposure).
When the residual risk assessed exceeds risk appetite levels, action
plans must be undertaken in order to reduce the risk exposure of the
Bank to within the limits of risk appetite.
Risk mitigation steps considered here encompass all risk reduction
measures. Typically these include the reinforcement of internal
controls but also exposure reduction through process redesign,
external insurance or transfer to more secure providers. Corrective
controls such as contingency planning are also a part of the available
risk mitigating actions.
Risk-mitigating measures are regularly evaluated as to whether they
have the intended effect (i.e. mitigate the risk effectively) and to
ensure that probability of undesirable events occurring is reduced (i.e.
prevent future occurrence).
Risk Monitoring
The Bank’s management reviews its key indicators to monitor its level
of risk taking to be able to deploy risk mitigation action before the
occurrence of any significant incident. Indicators relate to all risk
categories.
At process and department levels, risk owners define leading key risk
indicator (KRI) metrics around the main drivers of risks, in order to
monitor and prevent incidents as much as possible.
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The Risk Management Committee receives regular reporting of
significant loss events, KRIs, risk profiles, impacts and other relevant
exposures.
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) is a process where at least once a
year the Bank is subject to a review and assessment of enterprise-wide
risk exposures. The outputs of the assessment are reported to the Risk
Management Committee and the Risk Committee of the Board.
Risk Appetite
Risk Appetite is the amount of risk the Bank is ready to take or to
tolerate in the pursuit of its strategic and business objectives. For
banks, financials risks such as credit, market and liquidity risks are
generally chosen and willingly taken as they constitute the core of the
business revenues.
Contrastingly, non-financial risks, such as
operational risk or compliance risk are tolerated, within risk appetite
parameters, as an inevitable exposure when doing business and need
to be controlled effectively.
Risk appetite definitions relate, on one hand, to the range of damage
that the Bank is prepared to incur in the event a risk materialises, and
on the other hand, represent the framework in which risk is managed
and controlled.
Capital Risk
The Bank defines capital as that part of the liability side of its balance
sheet that has the capacity to absorb losses. Capital Risk is the risk that
the Bank’s capital value may lose its value below the Bank’s risk
appetite and minimum regulatory requirements.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is most simply defined as the potential that a bank borrower
or counterparty will fail to meet its obligations in accordance with
agreed terms.
Liquidity Risk
The Bank defines Liquidity risk as;
 The lack or absence of adequate liquidity which ultimately prevents
the Bank from meeting its financial obligations as they fall due;
 The Bank’s funding costs increasing disproportionately and/or;
 The lack of funding which prevents the Bank from establishing new
business or continuing existing relationships.
Operational Risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed processes, people and systems, or from external events. The
root causes of operational risk arise from the potential of key system
failures, deficiencies of the internal control environment or from
external events, which could result in adverse financial and/or nonfinancial impact. Risks from cyber threats fall under this category.
Financial Crime
Any kind of criminal conduct relating to money or to financial services
or markets, including any offence involving:
 fraud or dishonesty;
 misconduct in, or misuse of information relating to, a financial
market;
 handling the proceeds of crime; or
 the financing of terrorism.
Anti-Bribery and Corruption
The Bank has a zero tolerance policy towards any actions or activities
that breach any bribery and corruption law and regulation.
The Bank will not tolerate:
 The offering, giving or acceptance of a bribe for any purpose, either
directly or via a third party.
 Any other inappropriate practice which might reasonably be
perceived to influence inappropriately a person’s conduct in their
professional or public duty.
Legal Risk
Legal risk is the risk of financial or reputational loss that can result from
lack of awareness or misunderstanding of, ambiguity in, or reckless
indifference to, the way law and regulation apply to our business, its
relationships, processes, products and services.

Bank Leumi (UK) plc and subsidiaries

Compliance Risk
Compliance risk is exposure to legal penalties, financial forfeiture and
material loss an organisation faces when it fails to act in accordance
with industry laws and regulations, internal policies and procedures or
prescribed best practices.

Taken together, the decisions of the Board are designed to deliver
upon the overall strategic objective set out earlier in the Strategic
Report and to promote the success of the Bank.

Market Risk
Market risk can be defined as the risk of loss in on- and off-balance
sheet positions arising from adverse movements in market prices.
From a regulatory perspective, market risk stems from all positions, if
any, included in the trading book as well as from foreign exchange risk
positions on the entire balance sheet. The prices of such positions are
influenced by market variables such as interest rates and exchange
rates.
Model Risk
Model Risk is the potential loss the Bank may incur, as a consequence
of decisions that could be principally based on the output of models,
due to errors in the development, implementation or use of such
models (CRD IV, Article 3.1.11).
Additional disclosures on credit risk, market risk and operational risk
are contained in Note 30.
Risks associated with the Bank’s defined benefit pension plan are
detailed in Note 12(d).
Climate Change
The Bank is aware of the potential impact of climate change to its
customers and its lending portfolio. It appointed the Bank’s Chief Risk
Officer as the Senior Manager responsible for managing climate change
financial risk. The Bank also established an initial climate change risk
framework and has tightened its credit risk appetite to exclude a
number of climate change related risks including:
 Direct lending to entities involved in the production of energy from
fossil fuels.
 Project finance facilities to the oil industry.
During the year the Bank completed its exit from Commodity trade
finance activity which represented the single largest sectoral
contributor from Leumi UK financed entities to climate change risk.
The Bank also improved its carbon footprint through its move to new
office space in Angel Court in April 2021 and developed a Board
approved Climate Change Strategy in December 2021.
Duty to promote the success of the Bank for the benefit of its members
as a whole
This section of the Strategic Report serves as the Section 172(1)
statement describing how the directors have had regard to the matters
set out in Section 172(1)(a)-(f) of the Companies Act 2006.
When taking decisions, the Board balances the impact of those
decisions on the Bank’s various stakeholders whilst acting in a way that
the Board considers will ensure the Bank maintains a reputation for
high standards of business conduct and promote the long-term success
of the Bank.
The Bank has various important stakeholders, in particular: its
customers, its people, its shareholder, its suppliers, its regulators,
and its wider community. The Bank recognises that the long-term
success of the business depends upon its engagement with each of
these stakeholders and the actions taken as a consequence.
The Bank also reframed its organisational values as Principles following
engagement with its staff (see earlier section The Leumi Principles
within this Strategic Report).
The Bank acknowledges the importance of a clear and open dialogue
with its regulators, and over the past year took steps to update them
in a proactive manner and to respond to feedback when provided.
Decisions taken by the Board to focus on implementing certain
strategic changes, to invest in IT and to review the Bank’s end-to-end
operating model, are examples of the Board making decisions for the
long-term success of the Bank whilst considering input provided by
stakeholders when doing so.
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Results

Liquidity

The Statement of Financial Position and the Income Statement have
been presented in accordance with standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board, and in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Statement of Financial Position

Total consolidated assets of Bank Leumi (UK) plc amounted to £1,658
million at the end of 2021, compared with £1,306 million at the end of
2020, a 27% increase.

Statement of Financial Position – customer business

Overall customer lending increased by £273 million or 26% to £1,334
million. The increase was due to strong growth in our core sectors of
Property and Hotel Finance and Asset Based Lending.
The trend in customer lending over the last five years is reflected in the
graph below.
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During 2021 the liquidity position of the Bank remained strong. The
level of the Bank’s liquidity buffer was £271 million, an increase of £66
million in the year. The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) was 635% (2020:
247%).

Capital

The Bank continues to monitor its capital adequacy ratios on a regular
basis to ensure that capital held is always adequate to support the
business transacted. The level of capital held remained well in excess
of regulatory limits throughout the year.
As at 31 December 2021 the Bank’s consolidated Common Equity Tier
1 Capital and Total Tier 1 Capital ratio was 17.0% (2020: 19.1%).

Income Statement
The Group posted a net profit for the 2021 financial year of £17.1
million compared with a loss of £4.0 million in 2020.
Impairment allowances on debt decreased £7.7 million during 2021,
compared to an increase of £6.5 million in 2020. The decrease
comprised £5.1 million for non-impaired debts, of which £2.7 million
related to lower expected credit losses for debts which have
experienced a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since
origination (classified as Stage 2 under IFRS 9) and £2.4 million related
to lower expected credit losses for debts where there was no SICR. The
remaining £2.6 million decrease in impairment allowances related to
write back of provisions for debts which are credit impaired.
Operating income before impairment charges of £48.0 million
compares with £38.3 million in 2020, a increase of 25%.

600

Net interest income of £37.5 million compared with £30.0 million in
2020, an increase of 25%, reflects mainly the impact of lower market
interest rates which decreased the cost of customer deposits and the
growth in funds in use related to our asset based lending subsidiary
Leumi ABL Limited. Increases in lending margins and fees from new
lending business also had a positive impact.
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Overall customer deposits decreased by £23 million or 3% to £647
million. This decrease was driven by customers affiliated to our
Commodity Finance business which we exited in 2020.
The trend in customer deposits over the last five years is reflected in
the graph below.
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Fees and commissions income of £8.0 million compared with £6.8
million in 2020, an increase of 18%. The increase relates to higher
lending fees in the Bank and higher service fees in our subdiary Leumi
ABL Limited.
Net Trading Income of £1.7 million compared with £1.8 million in 2020,
a decrease of 6%.
Administrative expenses of £30.9 million compared with £33.6 million
in 2020, a decrease of 8%. The decrease is due to significantly lower
premises related costs, partly due to one-off costs in 2020 as a result
of the move to the new office in Angel Court and partly due to the
reclassification of rent costs as depreciation under IFRS 16 Leases. Cost
savings were also made to salary costs and legal and professional costs.
Partly offsetting these reductions were higher bonus and staff
commission costs in the Bank and Leumi ABL Limited.
Depreciation and amortisation of property, equipment and
intangibles of £3.8 million compared with £3.3 million in 2020, an
increase of 15%. The increase relates to the new property lease at
Angel Court which is now accounted for as a depreciating asset under
IFRS 16 Leases.
The asset based lending subsidiary, Leumi ABL Limited, reported strong
growth in funds in use in 202, and closed the year £145 million higher
at £408 million. This was driven by portfolio growth and strong new
business bringing about an increase in net operating income of £2.3
million or 24%. A continued focus on effective credit risk management
resulted in a minimal level of impairment charges in the
year. Operating expenses increased £0.7 million or 11% due to
increased staff costs. Overall operating profits are £4.6 million for
2021, compared with £3.0 million in the prior year.
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Return on Capital Employed

A key metric monitored by the Bank is Return on Capital Employed
(ROCE). ROCE demonstrates the effectiveness of utilising the capital of
the business to deliver profits to provide a return to our shareholder.
ROCE is calculated as net profit divided by average capital employed in
the business and expressed as a percentage.
ROCE was 7.7% in 2021 (negative in 2020 due to the Bank making a loss
for the period).

Efficiency Ratio

Another important measure of efficiency is the level of total
expenditure compared to the level of total income. This efficiency ratio
is calculated as total expenses divided by total income and expressed
as a percentage.
For continuing operations, the efficiency ratio was 72.2%, compared
with 96.4% in 2020.

Looking Ahead
2021 was another challenging year for many with the deep scars from
the pandemic taking time to heal. 2021 had been a year of lockdowns,
travel restrictions, Covid vaccination rollouts, supply chain problems
and rising inflation which have resulted in central banks across the
world reconsidering their monetary policy support whilst continuing to
support economic growth. The Bank of England increased its base rate
from 0.10% to 0.25% in December 2021, at 0.50% in February 2022
now at 0.75% in March 2022.
What will 2022 have in store? Geopolitical risk is at the forefront of
minds with the conflict in Ukraine further exacerbating inflationary
pressures as the world recovers from the pandemic. Currently, the
conflict in Ukraine is expected to have a minimal impact to the
business. However, the Bank has heightened its monitoring and
controls to comply with changes to sanctions. Inflation in the UK is at
7%, Europe is up to 7.5% and inflation has reached the highest level for
40 years in the US, climbing to 8.5%. Economic growth remains
subdued with employment not as badly hit as some economists had
forecast. Unemployment rate in the UK is at 4.13%, US at 3.6% and
Europe around 6.2%. Central Banks are weighing up additional
responses to inflationary pressures attributable to pent-up demand
versus the shock increases in wholesale energy prices, without tipping
their economies into recession.
Meanwhile, following various Board and Shareholder decisions in
March and April 2022, the Leumi UK Group plans to continue to simplify
its operating model and better serve its corporate borrowers by taking
steps to implement an internal business restructure. The plan will
involve the Bank ceasing to undertake regulated banking activity and
applying to cancel its regulatory permissions. Contingent on a
successful restructure, the Bank and Leumi ABL Limited will become a
single merged entity, and become a credit provider, undertaking
unregulated activity, with a trifold focus on Property Finance, Hotel
Finance, and Asset Based Lending, both to customers in the UK and in
Europe. The implementation of the restructure is contingent on
several conditions, including but not limited to all relevant regulatory
approvals. The restructure will mark the end of one chapter of Leumi
UK’s history, but will provide a springboard for another era of
delivering growth and value in its specialist areas of expertise for
customers moving forwards.

By Order of the Board
Robert England, Company Secretary
Twelfth Floor, 1 Angel Court
London EC2R 7HJ
28 April 2022
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their Report and the Accounts of Bank Leumi
(UK) plc and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

Board of Directors

Disclosure of Information to the Auditor

The Directors as at 31 December 2021 are listed on page 1.
The Directors retiring by rotation in accordance with the Bank’s articles
of association at the next annual general meeting are Mr R. Levy and
Mrs J. Stevenson. However, each of the Directors will offer themselves
up for retirement and each of those whom are willing and are eligible,
will offer themselves for re-appointment.
During the year the Bank provided cover for its Directors and Officers
under Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policies.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of
the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the
Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the
Directors’ Report and the Group and parent company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent
company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
they have elected to prepare both the Group and the parent company
financial statements in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.
Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and of their
profit or loss for that period.
In preparing each of the Group and parent company financial
statements, the Directors are required to:


select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;



make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;



state whether they have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;



assess the Group and parent company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern;



use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either
intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent company and enable them to ensure
that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.
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The Directors who held office at the date of the approval of the
Directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is
no relevant audit information of which the Bank’s auditor is unaware,
and each of the Directors has taken all steps that he ought to have
taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Bank’s auditor is aware of the
information.

Share Ownership

As at 31 December 2021, Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. held, directly or
indirectly, 100% of the issued share capital of the Bank.

Employees

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including
contract staff) in each week during the year was 156 (2020: 173). The
equivalent number of persons employed at end of 2021 was 152 (2020:
155). The aggregate remuneration paid to all such persons amounted
to £16,411,000 (2020: £14,593,000).

Social Responsibility

Bank Leumi (UK) plc is fully committed to being an active and useful
member of communities it operates in. In this regard, the Bank has
always viewed its charitable giving as an aspect of its social
responsibility.
The Directors recognise their duty to wider stakeholders, not limited to
customers, employees and suppliers (refer to Risk Management
section of the Strategic Report). The interest of each class of
stakeholder is of key consideration for potential business
reorganisations in order to better serve its commercial lending
customers, see Note 1(d).
The Bank does not make political contributions and is also on
heightened alert with respect to the application of sanction rules as a
consequence of the conflict in Ukraine, see Note 35 (post balance sheet
events).

Auditor
Deloitte LLP has indicated their willingness to take office (rotating from
KPMG LLP) and a resolution to reappoint them, and to authorise the
Directors to determine their remuneration will be submitted to the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Robert England, Company Secretary
Twelfth Floor, 1 Angel Court
London EC2R 7HJ
28 April 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BANK LEUMI (UK)
PLC
Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion
In our opinion:
 the financial statements of Bank Leumi UK PLC (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) give
a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at December 31, 2021
and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;


the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB);



the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006; and



the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
 the consolidated income statement;
 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;
 the consolidated and parent company statement of financial position;
 the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
 the consolidated and parent company cash flow statement;
 the statement of accounting policies; and
 the related notes 1 to 35
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is
applicable law, United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’)
Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to the group and parent company for the
year are disclosed in note 6 to the financial statements. We confirm that we have not provided any non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard to the group or the parent company.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Bank Leumi (UK) plc and subsidiaries
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3. Summary of our audit approach
Key audit matters

The key audit matter that we identified in the current year was:
 Valuation of expected credit losses

Materiality

The materiality that we used for the group financial statements in the current year
was £1.08m which was determined on the basis of 5% of profit before tax.

Scoping

Our group audit scope focused primarily on two locations with the parent company
and its subsidiary, Leumi ABL Limited, both being subject to a full scope audit.

Significant changes in
our approach

This is our first year of audit of the group and the parent company. Compared to last
year, the materiality increased from £485k (determined by previous auditor) to
£1.08m.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting included:








obtaining and reading management’s going concern assessment in order to understand the basis for key
assumptions and judgements made by management;
considering management’s financial projections and evaluating key assumptions and their projected
impact on capital and liquidity;
With the involvement of Deloitte’s regulatory specialists, reading the most recent ICAAP and ILAAP
submissions, considering management’s capital and liquidity projections, assessing the results of
management’s severe but plausible stress scenarios and considering whether the mitigating actions that
could be taken by management in a severe but plausible stress scenario were reasonable;
reading correspondence with regulators to understand the group’s capital and liquidity requirements;
assessing the historical accuracy of forecasts prepared by management; and
considering the appropriateness of the disclosures made in the financial statements.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Directors announced a business restructure proposal, which may
involve the reassignment of assets from Bank Leumi (UK) PLC to its wholly owned subsidiary Leumi ABL Limited
at an unspecified future date as described in note 1 (d) of the financial statements. In response to this, we held
inquiries with management and assessed internal and external correspondence related to the reorganisation.
We evaluated whether the announcement constituted a clear intention by the Directors to implement the
proposal, and considered whether the potential timeframes if the restructure takes place.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and parent company’s ability
to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
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5. Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of
the engagement team.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
5.1. Valuation of expected credit losses
Key audit matter
description

IFRS 9 requires the company to recognise expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial
assets held at amortised cost.
As at 31 December 2021, the total ECL on loans and advances to customers at
amortised cost was £9.5m (2020: £21.3m). There are a number of key elements that
drive the IFRS 9 ECL calculation, some of which are mechanical in nature whilst other
elements involve more judgement. These include:




Changes in the credit grade is a significant determinant of whether an
exposure is considered stage 1 or stage 2. The movement from stage 1 to
stage 2 results in the recognition of a lifetime ECL rather than a 12-month
ECL and so can have a significant effect on the level of the allowance: and
The probability of default (“PD”) in particular is a key driver of the 12-month
and lifetime ECL calculation and is a function of credit ratings in combination
with the appropriate integration of macroeconomic scenarios in the model.

The judgements involved in determining the ECLs noted above involve a high level of
subjectivity and are key components of the significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
assumption. Therefore, we have identified SICR as a key audit matter. This key audit
matter contains a potential risk of fraud due to the inherent judgement and potential
for bias associated with recognising ECLs in the year which directly impacts the profit
and loss account and the statement of comprehensive income.
Management discloses information about credit risk in note 30 on Risk Management.
Critical accounting judgements and estimates and key sources of estimation
uncertainty are covered in note 4 to the financial statements, with the related
accounting policies covered in note 3 to the financial statements.
How the scope of our
audit responded to the
key audit matter

We completed the following procedures:
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We obtained an understanding of the relevant controls over the business
cycles for lending and ECL allowances;
We assessed the reasonableness of the overall IFRS 9 methodology used by
management, including an assessment of the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used;
For all stage 2 and a sample of stage 1 loans held at amortised cost, we
performed individual loan file reviews and challenged the appropriateness
of the staging classification. This included consideration of factors such as
internal risk indicators and financial performance of the borrower in order
to evaluate whether significant increases in credit risk and default events had
been adequately captured. We also challenged the key inputs and
judgements used in the impairment calculation including inspecting
payment history, collateral valuations and underlying supporting
13




Key observations

documents;
We engaged modelling specialists to evaluate that PD approach was
appropriate and implemented in the ECL model in accordance with IFRS 9;
and
We engaged economic specialists to evaluate the appropriateness of the
macroeconomic scenarios and weightages incorporated in the ECL model.

We concluded that the staging classification and the valuation of expected credit
losses are appropriately stated.

6. Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that
the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use
materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as
follows:
Group financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Materiality

£1.08m (2020 previous auditor: £485k)

£0.918m (2020 previous auditor: £0.268m)

Basis for
determining
materiality

5% of profit before tax (2020 previous 85% of group materiality (2020: previous
auditor: 5% of last 3-year average normalised auditor: 65% of group materiality)
profit before tax)

Rationale for the We have considered profit before tax to be the most appropriate benchmark considering the
benchmark
nature of business, stakeholder focus and similar PIE entities within the market. Given the
applied
significant changes in the group’s operation in recent years, we consider the profit before
tax for 2021 to be the most appropriate basis for determining materiality, without any
averaging for prior years’ performance.

Profit before tax
£21.61m
Profit before tax
Group Materiality

Group Materiality
£1.08m

Audit Committee
reporting threshold
£54k

6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate,
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.
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Group financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Performance
materiality

70% of materiality (2020 previous auditor: 70% of parent company materiality (2020
65% of materiality)
previous auditor: 65% of materiality)

Basis and
rationale for
determining
performance
materiality

In determining performance materiality, we considered our understanding of the entity and
its environment, our risk assessment, including our assessment of the group’s overall control
environment and whether we were able to rely on controls. We also considered the reduced
uncertainty arising from impact of COVID-19 on our risk assessment, compared with the prior
year.

6.3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report all audit differences in excess of £54k (2020 previous
auditor: £24k), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative
grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit
7.1. Scoping
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the group and its environment, including internal control,
and assessing the risks of material misstatement. Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstatement
was performed directly by the audit engagement team. Our group audit scope focused on two locations with the
parent company and its subsidiary, Leumi ABL Limited, both subject to a full scope audit. These two components
account for 100% of the group’s revenue, profit before tax and net assets.
7.2. Our consideration of the control environment
We obtained an understanding of the relevant controls over key business cycles. This included obtaining an
understanding of and testing the general IT controls related to the key IT systems. We also tested and relied upon
controls over interest income.
7.3. Our consideration of climate-related risks
In planning our audit, we have considered the potential impact of climate change on the group’s business and its
financial statements.
The company continues to develop its assessment of the potential impacts of climate change and its related risk
management. As stated in the strategic report on page 7, the main risk area to the group arising from climate
change is the impact on credit risk. In 2021, the group developed a Board approved Climate Change Strategy.
Based on enquiries with management to understand their process for identifying and assessing climate-related
risks, their process for managing the identified risks and their determination of mitigating actions as well as the
impact on the group’s financial statements, we did not identify any additional risks of material misstatement.
Our procedures also included reading the climate change related section included in the strategic report to
consider whether they are materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained in
the audit.
7.4. Working with other auditors
The group audit team engaged the component auditor for the component audit of Leumi ABL Limited which is
based in Brighton, United Kingdom. The group audit team maintained dialogue with the component auditor
throughout all phases of the audit and received written reports from the component auditor setting out the
results of their audit procedures. The Senior Statutory Auditor met with key members of component
management. The group audit team performed a remote file review of the work performed by the component
auditor and held meetings with the component auditor to discuss the results.
Bank Leumi (UK) plc and subsidiaries

15

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained
within the annual report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below.
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11.1.
Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and noncompliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:






the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the
design of the group and parent company’s remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’
remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;
results of our enquiries of management, internal audit, compliance function and the audit committee
about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities;
any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the parent company’s documentation of their
policies and procedures relating to:
o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance;
o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud;
o the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations;
the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including tax,
valuations, IT, ECL modelling, economic, real estate and industry specialists, regarding how and where
fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: valuation of expected
credit losses. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to
respond to the risk of management override.
We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, focusing
on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included
the UK Companies Act and tax legislation.
In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the company’s ability to operate or to
avoid a material penalty. These included the parent company’s operating licence and regulatory solvency
requirements.
11.2.
Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified valuation of expected credit losses as a key audit matter related
to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matter in more detail and
also describes the specific procedures we performed in response to that key audit matter.
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:







reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the
financial statements;
enquiring of management, the audit committee concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;
performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate
risks of material misstatement due to fraud;
reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and
reviewing correspondence with HMRC and other regulatory authorities including the PRA and FCA; and
in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of
journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting

Bank Leumi (UK) plc and subsidiaries

17

estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.
We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team
members including internal specialists and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with
laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:



the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or
the directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
13.1.
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
13.2.
Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration have not been made.
We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

14. Other matters which we are required to address
14.1.
Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Board of Directors on August
10, 2021 to audit the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2021 and subsequent financial
periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments of the
firm is one year, covering the year ending 31 December 2021.
14.2.
Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the audit committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee we are required to provide in
accordance with ISAs (UK).
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15. Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Chris Brough, FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom
28 April 2022
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Continuing operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Net fees and commission income
Net trading income
Net gain/(loss) from other financial instruments classified at fair value
Total operating income before loan impairment charges
Credit impairment allowances
Net operating income
Administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Profit/(loss) before tax

2021

2020

Notes

£000's

£000's

7

43,318
(5,773)
37,545

40,597
(10,567)
30,030

8
9
10

8,037
1,729
713
48,024

6,793
1,815
(351)
38,287

30(A)(g)(iii)

7,684
55,708
(30,885)
(1,736)
(2,075)
21,012

(6,503)
31,784
(33,625)
(1,424)
(1,848)
(5,113)

(3,925)
17,087

976
(4,137)

(7)

178

12
19
20
6

Tax (expense)/credit
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations

13

(Loss)/profit on discontinued operations (net of tax)

5

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the shareholders of the parent company

17,080

(3,959)

The notes on pages 28 to 69 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes
Profit/(loss) for the year

2021

2020

£000's

£000's

17,080

(3,959)

Other comprehensive income
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met
Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve
- Fair value (loss)/gain
- Income taxes

13b

(58)
11
(47)

63
(12)
51

5,655
(699)
4,956

(5,683)
1,167
(4,516)

4,909

(4,465)

21,989

(8,424)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Actuarial gain/(loss) on the defined benefit plan
- Before income taxes
- Income taxes

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (net of tax)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to the shareholders
of the parent company

12d
13b

The notes on pages 28 to 69 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended 31 December 2021
31 December 31 December
2021
2020
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Post-employment benefit assets
Deferred taxation
Other assets
Prepayments and accrued income
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Accruals and deferred income
Post-employment benefit liabilities
Current taxation
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total liabilities
Equity
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company

Notes
15
16
29
17
20
19
12d
13d
21

22
23
24
29
12d
25
27

28

Total liabilities and equity

£000's
271,093
36,733
1,333,819
2,491
2,453
4,639
23
2,232
2,873
1,415
1,657,771

£000's
197,380
21,148
1,061,126
4,545
7,502
4,102
2,290
2,947
3,662
1,371
1,306,073

694,874
647,054
53,513
4,011
7,425
1,057
12,135
456
1,420,525

325,587
669,940
53,510
11,473
6,227
10,541
906
11,886
746
1,090,816

14,324
63,736
159,186
237,246

14,324
63,736
47
137,150
215,257

1,657,771

1,306,073

The notes on pages 28 to 69 form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements have been approved, authorised for issue and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Shmulik Arbel, Chairman

Jean M. Stevenson, Director and Chairman of the Audit and Remuneration Committee

Michael Schiller, Chief Executive Officer
28 April 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Share
capital
£000's
At 1 January 2021

Fair value
through other
Share comprehensive
premium income reserve
£000's
£000's

Retained
earnings
£000's

Total
equity
£000's

14,324

63,736

47

137,150

215,257

-

-

-

17,080
4,956

17,080
4,956

-

-

(47)

-

Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax)
Issued share capital and premium
At 31 December 2021

14,324

63,736

(47)
-

22,036
159,186

21,989
237,246

At 1 January 2020

14,324

63,736

(4)

145,625

223,681

-

-

-

(3,959)
(4,516)

-

-

51

-

14,324

63,736

51
47

(8,475)
137,150

Profit for the year
Actuarial gain on the defined benefit plan
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Loss for the year
Actuarial loss on the defined benefit plan
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year (net of tax)
Issued share capital and premium
At 31 December 2020

(47)

(3,959)
(4,516)
51
(8,424)
215,257

The notes on pages 28 to 69 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2021
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

21,012
(7)

(5,113)
178

(3,196)
(262,739)
338,139

10,275
71,914
(23,425)

Contributions paid to the defined benefit plan
Tax paid

(5,518)
(2,998)

(305)
(1,055)

Net cash generated from operating activities

84,693

52,469

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax on continuing operations
Profit before tax on discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
- Non cash items included in profit before tax
- Change in operating assets
- Change in operating liabilities

33
33
33

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial investments
Proceeds from the sale and maturity of financial investments
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

7,390
(404)
(456)

(7,391)
24,266
(98)
(1,126)

Net cash generated from investing activities

6,530

15,651

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary share capital
Subordinated loan capital repaid
Payment of lease liabilities

(1,432)

(546)

Net cash from financing activities

(1,432)

(546)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

89,791

67,574

218,528
(493)

151,140
(186)

307,826

218,528

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

33

The notes on pages 28 to 69 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position (Bank only)
for the year ended 31 December 2021

31 December 31 December
2021
2020
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Shares in group undertakings
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Post-employment benefit assets
Deferred taxation
Other assets
Prepayments and accrued income
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Accruals and deferred income
Post-employment benefit liabilities
Current taxation
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total liabilities
Equity
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve

Notes
15
16
29
17
18
20
19
12d
13d
21

22
23
24
29
12d
25
27

28

1

Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company
Total liabilities and equity

£000's
271,093
34,620
1,318,450
2,491
2,764
2,103
3,914
23
2,114
1,995
1,176
1,640,743

£000's
197,380
20,765
1,049,267
4,545
7,502
2,764
3,882
1,439
2,863
3,399
1,103
1,294,909

694,874
647,057
53,513
4,011
5,822
688
4,639
456
1,411,060

325,587
680,577
53,510
11,473
5,307
10,541
3
1,373
746
1,089,117

14,324
63,736
151,623
229,683

14,324
63,736
47
127,685
205,792

1,640,743

1,294,909

1 Bank

Profit and Loss contributing toward Retained earnings are disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity (Bank only).
The notes on pages 28 to 69 form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements have been approved, authorised for issue and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Shmulik Arbel, Chairman

Michael Schiller, Chief Executive Officer
28 April 2022
Bank Leumi (UK) plc and subsidiaries
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Statement of Changes in Equity (Bank only)
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Share
capital
£000's
At 1 January 2021

Fair value
through other
Share comprehensive
premium income reserve
£000's
£000's

Retained
earnings
£000's

Total
equity
£000's

14,324

63,736

47

127,685

205,792

-

-

-

13,263
4,956
5,719

13,263
4,956
5,719

-

-

(47)

Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax)
Issued share capital and premium
At 31 December 2021

14,324

63,736

(47)
-

23,938
151,623

23,891
229,683

At 1 January 2020

14,324

63,736

(4)

138,408

216,464

-

-

-

-

-

51

14,324

63,736

51
47

Profit for the year
Actuarial gain on the defined benefit plan
Dividends received
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Loss for the year
Actuarial loss on the defined benefit plan
Dividends received
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year (net of tax)
Issued share capital and premium
At 31 December 2020

-

(6,434)
(4,516)
227

(47)

(6,434)
(4,516)
227

(10,723)
127,685

51
(10,672)
205,792

The notes on pages 28 to 69 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement (Bank only)
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax on continuing operations
Profit before tax on discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
- Non cash items included in profit before tax
- Change in operating assets
- Change in operating liabilities

33
33
33

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

22,061
-

(7,739)
-

(3,262)
(258,736)
329,527

9,896
117,171
(67,212)

Dividends received from subsidiaries
Contributions paid to the defined benefit plan
Tax paid

(5,719)
(5,518)
(2,300)

(227)
(305)
(403)

Net cash generated from operating activities

76,053

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends received from subsidiaries
Purchase of financial investments
Sale of financial investments
Capital distribution from subsidiary
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

5,719
7,390
(380)
(301)

51,181

227
(7,391)
24,266
633
(127)
(1,000)

Net cash generated from investing activities

12,428

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary share capital
Subordinated loan capital repaid
Payment of lease liabilities

(1,300)

(407)

Net cash from financing activities

(1,300)

(407)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

87,181

67,382

218,145
387

151,031
(268)

305,713

218,145

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

33

16,608

The notes on pages 28 to 69 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Bank Leumi (UK) plc (‘Leumi UK’ / ‘the Bank’) is a company incorporated in England and Wales operating from its registered office, Twelfth Floor, 1 Angel
Court, London, EC2R 7HJ. Founded in 1959 and owned by its parent company, Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M., Leumi UK provides commercial lending to
corporate clients operating in the Property and Hotels sector. Leumi ABL Limited, a fully owned subsidiary of Leumi UK, provides asset based finance
from its registered office, Pacific House, 126 Dyke Road, Brighton, BN1 3TE. Leumi ABL Limited is accounting consolidated into the Bank Leumi (IL) plc
financial statements.

1. Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (the ‘Standard’) in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as well as
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). The significant accounting policies are set out in Note
3 and have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.
Judgements made by the Directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates
with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 4.

(b) Presentation of information
These financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (IAS 1).
The Bank has taken advantage of the exemption in s408(3) of the Companies Act 2006 not to present its individual income statement, individual statement
of comprehensive income and related notes that form a part of these financial statements.
Capital disclosures under IAS 1 have been included in Note 28.
The functional currency of the Bank is Sterling, which is also the presentation currency of these financial statements. All amounts have been rounded to
the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

(c) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of Bank Leumi (UK) plc and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date that the Group gains control until the date when control ceases.
The acquisition method of accounting is applied to the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of
the consideration, including contingent consideration, given at the date of exchange. Acquisition related costs are recognised as an expense in the
income statement in the period in which they are incurred. The acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair
values at the date of acquisition. Any goodwill that arises is recognised as of the date of acquisition and is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a
bargain purchase is recognised immediately in the income statement.
All intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

(d) Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. In reaching this conclusion the Directors have taken account of a business restructure
involving the legal entities within the UK Group of companies. This restructure may involve the reassignment of assets from Bank Leumi (UK) plc to its
wholly owned subsidiary Leumi ABL Limited followed by an eventual Voluntary Liquidation of Bank Leumi (UK) plc at an unspecified future date. The
intention by management is to simplify the operating model of the UK business into a single legal entity. At the date of the approval of these financial
statements the Board is continuing to pursue these options but these plans remains dependent upon certain approvals from our parent company, and
certain regulators which have not yet been received. On that basis the Directors have concluded it remains appropriate to prepare these financial
statements on a going concern basis.
In making this assessment the Directors also considered the Bank’s future business plans, including requirements for liquidity, funding and capital under
both base and plausible stress scenarios, which were at least as severe as the Bank of England’s published 2021 annual cyclical scenario. Consequently,
the Directors are confident that the Bank will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date
of approval of the financial statements.

2. Changes in accounting policies
Except for the changes in Note 2(a) below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies as set out in Note 3 to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements and the Bank’s individual financial statements.
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(a) Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRSs and a new Interpretation issued by the IASB that are mandatorily effective
for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2021. Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts
reported in these financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase II)
The amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement provide a number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging
relationships that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainty about
the timing and/or amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument. These amendments had no impact on the
financial statements as the Group does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.
For the recognition and measurement of financial assets outside of hedging relationships, a practical expedient is provided whereby the effects of the
change in an interest rate benchmark on a floating rate instrument are accounted for prospectively. This amendment had no impact on the financial
statements.
Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions – amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The amendment provides relief to lessees from
applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical
expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this
election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the change
under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease modification. The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.
Earlier application is permitted. This amendment had no impact on the financial statements.

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue, but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued, but are
not yet effective and, in some cases, had not yet been adopted:
Amendment to IAS 1

Clarification in the definition of current and non-current liabilities, effective on or after 1 st
January 2023.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Clarification of guidance on contingent assets and updated references to the Conceptual
Framework, effective on or after 1st January 2022.

Amendments to IAS 16

Clarification of proceeds before intended use guidance, effective on or after 1st January 2022.

Amendments to IAS 37

Specification of costs to be included when assessing whether a contract is onerous, effective
on or after 1st January 2022.

Amendment IFRS 9

Specification of the treatment of fees for the derecognition of financial liabilities, effective on
or after 1st January 2022.

IFRS 17: Insurance contracts

Application of IFRS 17 to insurance contracts, replacing IFRS 4 and sets out principles for the
recognition, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 17.
Effective on or after 1 st January 2023.

Amendments to IFRS 4
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Extension to the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9. Effective 1st January 2023.
Introduction of disclosure requirements of material accounting policies. Effective on or after
1st January 2023.

Amendments to IAS 12

Clarification to the accounting treatment of deferred tax assets arising from a single
transaction. Effective on or after 1st January 2023.

Amendments to IAS 8

Update to definition of accounting estimates. Effective on or after 1st January 2023.

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group. in future
periods.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Measurement basis
The financial statements are prepared on an historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value: derivative
financial instruments, financial instruments classified as fair value through the profit or loss or through other comprehensive income and the net defined
retirement benefit assets and liabilities.

(b) Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Trading profits from dealings in foreign
currency securities are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the month in which they arise. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Any resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the income statement.
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Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the date
of the initial transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the rate of exchange ruling
at the date the fair value was determined. Any resulting exchange differences are generally recognised in the income statement.

(c) Interest income and expense
Interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and interest on financial instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a way of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or groups of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or
interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but excluding future credit losses. The calculation
includes all amounts paid or received by the Bank that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument, including transaction
costs and all other premiums or discounts.
Interest on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss.

(d) Non-interest income
(1) Fee income
Fee income is accounted for as follows:
i.

Fee income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest
rate (Note 3(c)). However, when the financial instrument is measured at fair value with the change in fair value recognised in the income statement,
the fees are recognised as revenue when the instrument is initially recognised.

ii.

Fees earned from the provision of services are recognised as revenue as the services are provided.

iii.

Fees earned on the execution of a performance obligation are recognised as revenue when the performance obligation has been met, satisfied and
discharged.

(2) Net trading income
Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and liabilities, and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest,
dividends and foreign exchange differences.

(3) Dividend income
Dividends, relating to investment in subsidiaries, are recognised in the income statement when the right to receive payment is established.

(e) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Group and the Bank becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

(1) Recognition and initial measurement
The Bank recognises loans and advances, deposits and subordinated liabilities on the date on which they are originated or cash disbursement date. All
other financial instruments (such as debt securities, derivatives and sale of financial assets) are recognised on the date at which the Bank becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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(2) Classification
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at i) amortised cost, ii) fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) or iii) fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on
the principal amount outstanding.
Similarly, a financial asset in the form of a debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both the following conditions and is not designated as
at FVTPL:

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.
Conversely, a financial asset in the form of an equity instrument can be designated as FVOCI if it is not held for trading. These two sub-classifications for
FVOCI assets, i) debt Instruments-FVOCI and ii) equity Instruments-FVOCI both require measurement of the exposure at fair value. IFRS 9 requires the
measurement of ECL for the former but not the latter.
The Bank held a portfolio of marketable debt instruments, which were included in the liquidity buffer. The issuers of such instruments were G10 Sovereign
issuers or their Central Banks, or debt instruments from commercial banks or building societies. The Bank does not hold equity instruments which meet
the above criteria for FVOCI.
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. There are two measurement categories of FVTPL, mandatory-FVTPL and designated-FVTPL.
The Bank considers the exercise of a Fair Value Option (where permissible) as the definition for classification under designated-FVTPL. The option to
designate an instrument at fair value is used to eliminate or reduce accounting mismatches and can be applied in hedge accounting. This is currently not
applicable as the Bank does not apply hedge accounting. Where the Bank has not explicitly designated a financial instrument as FVTPL and it neither
meets the definition for classification under amortised cost nor FVOCI, the instrument is automatically classified as mandatorily-FVTPL.
The Bank originates loans which do not contain any contractual features that are considered to be inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement. As
such, all loans and advances to banks and customers, and all financial investments held as part of the Bank’s liquidity buffer meet the SPPI test and are
classified as amortised cost and debt Instruments-FVOCI respectively. Trading assets and derivative assets held for risk management will continue to be
measured at FVTPL.
Loans and advances
Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are derecognised when either the borrower repays its obligations, or the
loans are sold or written off, or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. The Bank’s lending portfolio meet the business model
objective of advancing loans and holding such loans to collect SPPI cash flows. Loans and advances are initially recognised at fair value (plus any directly
attributable transaction costs) and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less expected credit loss
allowances. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.
Financial investments
Financial investments are recognised on a trade date when the Bank enters into contractual arrangements with counterparties to purchase securities
and are normally derecognised when either the securities are sold or the borrowers repay their obligations.
The Bank’s liquidity buffer of marketable debt securities are classified as debt Instruments-FVOCI. Debt instrument-FVOCI financial assets are initially
measured at fair value plus direct and incremental transaction costs. At subsequent reporting dates they are measured at fair value by reference to
published price quotations sourced from an active market via a market data provider (Level 1 inputs under IFRS 13). Gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income (less changes in expected credit losses which are recognised in the income statement) until
the financial assets are either sold or are determined to be impaired. When debt instrument-FVOCI financial assets are sold, cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised in the income statement.
Interest income is recognised on debt instrument-FVOCI financial assets in the income statement using the effective interest method, calculated over
the asset’s expected life. Premiums and discounts arising on the purchase of debt instruments are included in the calculation of their effective interest
rates.
Derivative financial instruments
The Bank’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Bank uses foreign
exchange forward contracts and interest rate swap contracts to economically hedge some of these exposures.
Derivative financial instruments are classified as FVTPL as they do not meet the business model objective to collect contractual cash flows that are SPPI.
They are initially recognised at fair value and are re-measured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates by reference to the latest market prices (Level
1 and Level 2 inputs under IFRS 13). Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in the income statement as they arise.
Derivatives are classified as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. The positive fair values of derivatives
represent a counterparty risk which is monitored regularly and added to the counterparty total exposure.
Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. This
is considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.
Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recorded as the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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(3) De-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the assets has expired; or when the Bank has transferred its
contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial assets, and either:



Substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred; or
The Bank has neither retained nor transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, but has not retained control.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when they are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.
Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
If the terms of an amortised cost financial asset or financial liability are renegotiated or modified (either under the normal course of business or under
forbearance), the Bank evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset or liability are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially
different (deemed when the present value of the renegotiated cash flows is more than 10% of the original agreement when discounted under the original
EIR excluding impact from credit risk) then the contractual rights or obligations to cash flows from the original financial asset or liability respectively are
deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset or liability is derecognised and a new financial asset or liability is recognised at fair value.
If the cash flows of the modified financial asset or financial liability at amortised cost are not substantially different, then the modification does not result
in derecognition. In this case, the Bank recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability and recognises the amount arising
from adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in the income statement. If such a modification is carried out because of credit
related factors, then the gain or loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income or interest expense
for modified financial assets and financial liabilities respectively.

(4) Fair value measurement
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date.
When one is available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is
regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing
basis.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise
the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing
a transaction.

(5) Impairment
The Bank evaluates expected credit loss (ECL) allowances for all financial assets that are classified as amortised cost, off balance sheet loan commitments
and financial guarantees that are in scope of IFRS 9 and not measured at FVTPL (previously provided for under IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets’) and debt instruments fair valued through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Financial assets measured at amortised cost: As a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

Off balance sheet Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: As a provision;

Financial assets which are debt instruments measured at FVOCI: No loss allowance is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position because
the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, if there is a loss allowance this shall be recognised in the income statement;
changes in fair value not attributable to expected credit loss allowances shall be recognised in other comprehensive income.
ECL allowances represent credit losses that reflect an unbiased, point in time and probability weighted amount which is determined by evaluating a range
of possible outcomes, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. ECL allowances are measured at amounts equal to either: (i) 12-month ECL; or (ii) lifetime ECL for those financial instruments which
have experienced a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition or (iii) when there is objective evidence of impairment.
The IFRS 9 impairment model uses a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination or initial recognition:
Stage 1: The 12-month ECL is a portion of the ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after
the reporting date. The 12-month ECL applies to all financial assets that have not experienced a SICR since origination and are not credit impaired. The
ECL is computed using a 12-month probability of default (PD) that represents the probability of default occurring over the next 12 months after reporting
date.
Stage 2: When a financial asset experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not credit impaired, it is considered to be in Stage 2; and its
classification will move from Stage 1 to Stage 2. This requires the computation of lifetime ECL based on lifetime PD that represents the probability of
default occurring over the remaining estimated life of the financial asset. Provisions are higher in this stage because of an increase in risk and the impact
of a longer time horizon being considered compared to 12 months in Stage 1. This assessment is symmetrical in nature, allowing credit risk of financial
assets to move back to 12-month ECL (Stage 1) if the increase in credit risk since initial recognition has reduced and is no longer deemed to be significant.
Stage 3: Financial assets that have objective evidence of credit impairment are included in this stage. Similar to Stage 2, the expected credit loss is
estimated by considering the lifetime horizon of the financial asset.
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Measurement of ECL
The measurement of ECL is the product of the financial asset’s PD, loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD), discounted to the reporting
date using an effective interest rate determined at initial recognition if a fixed rate instrument or discounted using the current effective interest rate if
the instrument has a variable interest rate. The main difference between Stage 1 and Stage 2 ECL is the respective PD horizon, with Stage 1 estimates
based on a 12-month PD whilst Stage 2 estimates use a lifetime PD. Stage 3 estimates leverage established existing processes for estimating losses on
impaired loans, through the application of discounted cash flows to determine present value of estimated future recoveries.
The component parts of ECL, including the assessment of SICR, must consider information about past events and current conditions, as well as reasonable
and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions. PD and LGD inputs are modelled based on the macroeconomic variables that are
most closely correlated to the Bank’s lending portfolio. Five year forecasts for these macroeconomic variables are used to produce at least four economic
scenarios which are then probability weighted. The estimation and application of this forward looking information requires significant judgement. More
information about how the Bank incorporates forward looking information and the measurement of ECL can be found in Note 30(A) Credit risk.
Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Bank considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Bank’s
previous experience and expert credit assessment and including forward looking information.
The Bank allocates each exposure to an internal credit grade (CG) based on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and
applying experienced credit judgement. CG’s are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors
vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower.
Each exposure is allocated a CG at initial recognition based on available information about the borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring,
which may result in an exposure being moved to a different CG.
The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) is done on a relative basis. To assess whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since origination requires a comparison of the risk of default occurring at the reporting date to the corresponding risk of default at origination.
For this assessment, the risk of default will be based on a number of factors including but not limited to the following:





Downgrade to the Bank’s internal CG since initial recognition;
Movement to Sensitive List or Watch List;
Classification as Forbearance; and
Payments past due in excess of 30 days.

Sensitive List: An obligor is classified on the Sensitive List if it is deemed to be showing signs of credit deterioration but where the emergence of a specific
problem is not yet apparent.
Watch List: An obligor is classified on Watch List if there is a serious cause for concern and therefore requires further assistance from the Bank through
periods of financial difficulty.
Forbearance: Forbearance is considered to occur when (for reasons pertaining to actual, imminent or perceived financial distress of a customer) the
Bank agrees to restructure lending facilities on terms that are outside its lending appetite when considered against the credit risk of the customer.
Credit impaired financial assets
The Bank assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset carried at amortised cost or a debt instrument-FVOCI is credit impaired.
A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred and such assets are categorised as Stage 3.
Objective evidence that financial assets are credit impaired can include:

Significant financial difficulty of the debtor,

Default,

Adverse changes in the payment status of debtors, or

Economic conditions that correlate with defaults of the debtor
It is possible for financial assets to move from Stage 1 directly into Stage 3 if there is objective evidence of impairment. Loss allowances for credit
impaired assets are measured as the difference between the financial assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
The Bank’s definition of default and credit impairment is very similar. More often than not, a customer in default will also be credit impaired (hence
Stage 3) with the following exception: the Bank may respond to default by agreeing to forbear, in which case the Bank will be unlikely to credit impair
the financial asset, choosing instead to i) classify the instrument into Stage 2 (SICR since origination), ii) evaluate an ECL allowance and iii) evaluate the
applicability of continuing recognition as an existing asset, which might result in a modification gain or loss to the gross value of the Loan.
Default
The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when an obligor is unlikely to pay its obligation or the obligor is past due more than 90 days on any
material credit obligation. A material credit obligation is considered to be either an authorised lending limit, a scheduled capital repayment, or payment
of interest.
Write-off
Credit impaired financial assets are normally written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
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amounts subject to write-off. Where the assets are secured, write-off is generally after receipt of any proceeds from the realisation of security. In
circumstances where the net realisable value of any collateral has been determined and there is no reasonable expectation of further recovery, write-off
may be earlier. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Bank’s procedure
for recovery of amounts due.
In circumstances where the Bank becomes successful with respect to gaining title to specified collateral as a consequence of its recovery procedures, the
Bank recognises such collateral on its Statement of Financial Position at its fair value.
Modified financial assets
When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition (see Note 3(e)(3), a determination is made of
whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly.
Loans that are subject to forbearance arrangements are included in the Bank’s watch list and are subject to increased credit risk monitoring. Forbearance
is indicative of a significant increase in credit risk and such financial assets can be classified as either Stage 2 or Stage 3 if credit impaired. The agreement
to forbear does not necessarily result in a credit impairment of the facility (see ‘Credit impaired financial assets’ above). The Bank had also considered
guidance issued by the Bank of England in March 2020 that forbearance sought by Borrowers and offered by Lenders, as a consequence of Covid-19,
should not be automatically construed as a significant increase in credit risk.
Under the Bank’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt, or if there is a high
risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be
able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms may include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the
terms of loan covenants. The Bank’s Credit Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance activities.
Forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure
is credit impaired. A customer needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behaviour over a period of time (usually two years) and the risk of
default is considered to have decreased before the exposure is no longer considered to be forborne such that the loss allowance reverts to being
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL (Stage 1).

(f) Investment in subsidiary undertakings
The Bank’s investments in its subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less any impairment losses (carrying value). Where a decision has been taken to
sell a subsidiary undertaking, it is stated at the lower of carrying value, and fair value less costs related to the sale.

(g) Property and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, if purchased outright, are stated at their initial purchase price plus directly attributable costs incurred to bring them into
operational use, less any impairment losses and depreciation. Property, plant and equipment that have been leased are recognised as a Right-of-Use
(RoU) asset less any impairment and depreciation, see below for Note 3(i) Leases.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the assets over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Computer and other equipment
Fixtures, fittings and furnishings

3 to 10 years
5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(h) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised when they become separately identifiable often through contractual or other legal rights, their cost can be
measured reliably, and where it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow from their use. The Bank is not an acquisitive
company and has neither acquired intangible assets nor recognised goodwill through business combinations.
Expenditure attributable to the development of intangible assets is recognised at cost less accumulated impairment and amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the assets over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Software

1 to 10 years

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment where there are indications that impairment may have occurred, such as the postponement or delay to
bringing the asset into operation as originally intended.

(i) Leases
As a lessee

The Bank recognises a Right-of-Use (RoU) asset and lease liability at the lease commencement date. The RoU asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, plus any lease payments made to the lessor before the lease commencement date less any lease
incentives received. The RoU asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end
of the useful life of the underlying asset or the end of the lease term.
The lease liability is initially measured at the net present value of the future lease payments discounted using the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate.
The lease payments identified in relevant contracts relate to lease components only. Fees pertaining to services embedded within the same contract are
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excluded. Lease payments include i) fixed payments, ii) variable payments linked to an index or rate, iii) amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, and iv) payments arising from the exercise of optional features where the intention to exercise, by management, is reasonably certain,
including for example, amounts payable under a purchase option, additional lease payments under an extension option, or penalties stipulated under an
early termination option. The lease liability is re-measured should these factors change and the lease liability adjusted (with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying value of RoU assets) if material.
The Bank had elected not to recognise RoU assets and lease liabilities for i) short-term leases that have a lease term of 12-months or less and ii) leases of
low-value assets, which the Bank deems at £5,000 per item when new. Lease payments associated with such leases are recognised as an expense in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

As a lessor

The Bank was a lessor of a separate and isolated office premise via a sub-lease agreement and deemed this an operating lease as this arrangement does
not substantially transfer all the risk and rewards incidental to owning the property. The Bank recognised lease payments received under this sub-lease
on a straight-line basis over the lease term into the income statement under ‘depreciation of property and equipment’ to offset against charges arising
from the corresponding head-lease.

(j) Post-employment benefits
The Bank has 2 sections to its pension provision for employees; (1) a defined benefit plan, which was closed to new entrants from 1 June 2000, and (2) a
Self-Invested Personal Pension (SIPP), which was launched during 2014 to replace the defined contribution plan.
The SIPP is available to employees of Bank Leumi (UK) plc and Leumi ABL Limited. The assets of the plan are held separately from the Bank in an
independently administered fund.

Defined benefit plan

The assets of the defined benefit plan are held separately from the Bank in an independently administered fund. The Bank’s net obligation is calculated
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair
value of any plan assets.
The defined benefit pension costs and the present value of defined benefit obligations are calculated at the reporting date by the plan’s actuaries using
the Projected Unit Credit Method.
The net charge to the income statement mainly comprises the service cost and the net interest on the net defined benefit asset or liability. Net interest
is calculated by applying the AA corporate bond yield discount rate to the net asset or liability. Past service costs relate to the change in the present value
of the defined benefit obligation for service in prior periods, resulting from a plan amendment or curtailment and are charged immediately to the income
statement.
Actuarial gains and losses comprise experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually
occurred), as well as the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they arise.
Defined benefit liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position represent the present value of defined benefit obligations adjusted for
unrecognised past service costs and reduced by the fair value of the plan assets.

Self-invested pension plan

Payments to the SIPP are charged to the income statement as the related service is provided. Any differences between contributions payable in the
period and contributions actually paid are disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position as “other liabilities” or “other assets”.

(k) Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly
in equity or other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, amended for permanent differences between the
treatment of certain items for tax and accounting purposes and any adjustment in respect of previous years. It is calculated using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for tax purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. It
is calculated using the tax rates and laws expected to apply in the periods in which the assets will be realised or the liabilities settled based on tax rates
enacted, or substantively enacted, by the reporting date.
Deferred tax relating to actuarial gains and losses on post-employment benefits is recognised in other comprehensive income. Deferred tax relating to
debt instruments where their fair value re-measurements are charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income, is also credited or charged
directly to other comprehensive income and is subsequently recognised in the income statement when the deferred fair value gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement.

Bank Leumi (UK) plc and subsidiaries

35

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid financial assets that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value. Such financial assets are normally those with less than three months’
maturity from the date of acquisition, and include cash and balances at central banks, loans and advances to banks and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

(m) Discontinued operations and classification as ‘held for sale’
A non-current asset is classified as held for sale if the Bank expects to recover its carrying amount principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use. A non-current asset classified as ‘held for sale’ is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
Assets and liabilities classified as ‘held for sale’ are shown separately on the face of the Statement of Financial Position.
The results of discontinued operations, comprising the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations, are shown as a single amount on the face of the
Income Statement with a more detailed analysis presented in the notes to the accounts.

(n) Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Under IFRS 9, the Group and the Bank will recognise expected
credit loss allowances arising from off balance sheet commitments and financial guarantees into the Statement of Financial Position within Provisions.

4. Use of assumptions, estimates and judgement
When preparing the financial statements, it is the Directors’ responsibility to select suitable accounting policies and to make judgements and estimates
that are reasonable and prudent. The accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are described in detail in Note 3.
The accounting policies that are deemed significant to the Bank’s results and financial position, in terms of the materiality of the items to which the policy
is applied, or which involve a high degree of judgement including the use of assumptions and estimates, are disclosed below:

(a) Critical accounting estimates
The Company’s defined benefit plan is measured on an actuarial basis with the key assumptions used, and the sensitivity to changes in these assumptions,
disclosed in Note 12(d).
The most significant estimates in measuring the present value of defined benefit obligations relate to the determination of actuarial and financial
assumptions. These assumptions include the nominal discount rate, rate of inflation over the period of projected cash flows and member longevity.
On 25 November 2020, the Government announced the outcome of the consultation on changing the way RPI inflation statistics are calculated. The
changes will bring the RPI into line with the “CPIH” index from 2030, which is similar to the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) but with housing costs included.
The yield curve used to value the scheme has been adjusted with the proposed changes to RPI measurement, expected to be effective after 2030.
Mortality assumptions are based upon the relevant standard industry and national mortality tables. Discount rates are based on specific corporate bond
indices which reflect the underlying yield curve of the plan.

(b) Critical accounting judgements
The Bank’s accounting policy for recognising impairment arising from customer loans and advances is described in Note 3(e)(5) and the sensitivity to
changes in assumptions disclosed in Note 30A(g)(vi). The methods involve the use of historical information coupled with forward looking information to
create probability weighted scenarios, supplemented with management judgement to determine expected credit losses. Each of these variables or inputs
requires management to exercise judgement in making assumptions and estimations.

5. Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations relate to BLJ Limited (BLJ). This follows the sale of of BLJ on 3 October 2016, as part of a wider Leumi Group policy to cease
international private banking activities in all subsidiaries except those situated in Israel and the USA. BLJ was dissolved on 23rd December 2021.
Profit and loss related to BLJ is classified as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Income Statement and is summarised in the following table:
2021
2020
£000's
£000's

Other income
Total operating income
Administrative expenses
Net profit for the year on discontinued operations

(7)
(7)

178
178

Administrative expenses relate to BLJ, and in the prior period 2020 show a write back to profit following the novation of open contracts for electronic
storage and archiving to Leumi UK, part offset by ongoing administration costs.
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Cash flows from discontinued operations
Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the year

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

(7)
(7)

(57)
(860)
(917)

The Bank wound down its Trade & Commercial Finance business in the current period and wounded down the Commodities and Premier Banking business
in the prior period. These are not considered separate major lines of business and consistent with the segmental reporting disclosure (see Note 14), are
managed as part of the overall single operating unit. Accordingly we do not separately disclose discontinued operations for these areas.

6. Auditor’s remuneration
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Auditor's remuneration:
Audit of these financial statements

495

573

30

63

Audit of the financial statements of the Bank's subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation

57

48

Other services

15

17

Fees payable to the Bank's auditor and its associates for other services:
Audit related assurance services
Fees payable to un-associated auditor:

7. Net interest income
`

Interest receivable:
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

179

378

179

378

43,132

39,062

36,505

34,254

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

7

124

7

124

Other interest earning financial assets

-

1,033

-

1,033

43,318

40,597

36,691

35,789

Deposits by banks

3,096

2,625

3,096

2,625

Customer deposits

2,173

6,975

2,267

7,354

504

661

504

661

-

306

-

306

5,773

10,567

5,867

10,946

37,545

30,030

30,824

24,843

Total interest income
Interest expense:

Subordinated liabilities
Other interest bearing financial liabilities
Total interest expense
Net interest income

All interest income and interest expense are derived from financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost with the exception of
interest income from debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and interest rate derivatives measured at
fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), both of which are derived from financial instruments measured at fair value. Interest income and interest
expense are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method.
The Bank considers loan extension fees and loan renewal fees as an integral component of the effective interest rate of its loan book. These items of
income are deferred on the Statement of Financial Position and amortised into interest income in the Income Statement over the term of the loan. All
other fee income earned on the provision of services is recognised in net fees and commission income (see Note 8).
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8. Net fees and commission income

Fees and commission income:
Banking fees
Fund management fees
Total fees and commission income

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

8,200

6,974

2,787

2,339

60

50

60

50

8,260

7,024

2,847

2,389

Fees and commission expense:
Introduction fees
Total fees and commission expense
Net fees and commission income

(223)

(231)

(223)

(231)

8,037

-

(4)
(4)

6,793

2,847

2,385

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Foreign exchange

1,729

1,815

1,729

1,815

Total net trading income

1,729

1,815

1,729

1,815

9. Net trading income

Net trading income is derived from financial assets and liabilities mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). These comprise
foreign exchange spot and forward contracts entered for currency risk management purposes. The Bank has not specifically designated any financial
asset or liability at FVTPL.

10. Net gain/(loss) from other financial instruments carried at fair value
Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Derivatives held for risk management purposes:
Interest rate

713

(351)

713

(351)

Net gain/(loss)

713

(351)

713

(351)

Net trading income from other financial instruments carried at fair value is derived from financial assets and liabilities mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit and loss (FVTPL). These comprise interest rate swap contracts entered for interest rate risk management purposes. The Bank has not
specifically designated any financial asset or liability at FVTPL.

11. Other revenue
Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Dividend income

-

-

5,719

227

Total other revenue

-

-

5,719

227
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12. Administration expenses
Group
2021
£000's
Wages and salaries

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

16,521

14,263

11,657

10,258

Compulsory social security contributions

2,107

1,843

1,578

1,376

Contributions to SIPP and other defined contribution plans*

1,053

752

835

520

541

721

541

721

Total personnel expenses

20,222

17,579

14,611

12,875

Other administrative expenses

10,663

16,046

9,099

14,387

30,885

33,625

23,710

27,262

Expenses related to post employment defined benefit plans

12d

Other administrative expenses for the Bank in the prior period 2020 are inclusive of expenses pertaining to onerous commercial property leases.
* There were no prepaid contributions as at 31 December 2021 (2020: £Nil).

(a) Employees
The average number of persons employed by the Group and the Bank was made up as follows:
Group
2021

2020

Manager grade
Other staff

57
99

63
110

51
58

56
72

156

173

109

128

2021
£

2020
£

1,300,307

1,430,982

Bank
2021

2020

(b) Directors’ emoluments

Aggregate emoluments of the Directors of the Bank
Of which:
Compensation for loss of office
Salary and benefits paid to the highest paid Director

-

57,501

789,080

707,074

The highest paid Director received the above sum in salary and benefits. The Bank paid pension contributions of £19,500 in respect of the highest paid
Director (2020: £16,408).

(c) Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving directors and others
There were no transactions in 2021 nor in the prior period between the Bank and the Bank’s key management personnel and their connected persons.

(d) Post-employment defined benefit plan
Pension benefits based on final pensionable salaries are available to the members of Bank Leumi (UK) Retirement Benefits Plan, which is a defined benefit
plan for Bank Leumi (UK) plc with assets controlled by a Trustee and held separately from those of the Bank.
With effect from 1 June 2000 the defined benefit plan was closed to new entrants and a defined contribution section of the plan was established for all
new employees. The defined contribution plan was replaced with a Self-Invested Pension Plan (SIPP) during 2014, available to staff of Bank Leumi (UK)
plc from 1 June 2014 and to staff of Leumi ABL Limited from 1 January 2015.
In accordance with legislation regarding employee auto-enrolment, all employees of Bank Leumi (UK) plc not in the SIPP at 1 July 2014 were automatically
enrolled. All employees who joined the Bank after 1 July 2014 are auto-enrolled within three months of their start date, unless they choose not to be
enrolled due to having fixed protection, individual protection or enhanced protection.
The defined benefit plan is subject to the Statutory Funding Objective under the Pensions Act 2004. A valuation of the plan is carried out by a
professionally qualified actuary independent of the Bank at least once every three years to determine whether the Statutory Funding Objective is met.
The last valuation was carried out as at 1 January 2020. As part of the process the Company must agree with the Trustees of the plan the contributions
to be paid to address any shortfall against the Statutory Funding Objective. The Statutory Funding Objective does not currently impact on the recognition
of the plan in these accounts.
The plan is managed by a board of Trustees appointed in part by the Company and part from elections by members of the plan. The Trustees have
responsibility for obtaining valuations of the fund, administering benefit payments and investing the plan’s assets. The Trustees delegate some of these
functions to their professional advisors where appropriate.
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The plan exposes the Company to a number of risks:


Investment risk: The plan holds investments in asset classes, such as equities, which have volatile market values and while these assets are expected
to provide the real returns over the long-term the short-term volatility can cause additional funding to be required if deficit emerges.



Interest rate risk: The plan’s liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality corporate bonds to discount the liabilities. As the plan holds
assets such as equities the value of the assets and liabilities may not move in the same way.



Inflation risk: A significant proportion of the benefits under the plan are linked to inflation. Although the plan’s assets are expected to provide a
good hedge against inflation over the long term, movements over the short-term could lead to deficits emerging.



Mortality risk: In the event that members live longer than assumed a deficit will emerge in the plan.



Member options and early retirements: certain benefit options may be exercised by members without requiring the consent of the Trustees or the
Employer, for example exchanging pension for cash at retirement. In the example, if fewer members than expected exchange pension for cash at
retirement then a funding strain will emerge.

Effect of the plan on the Company’s future cash flows
The Company is required to agree a Schedule of Contributions with the Trustees of the plan following a valuation which must be carried out every three
years. The next valuation of the plan is due as at 1 January 2023. In the event that the valuation reveals a larger deficit than expected the Company may
be required to increase contributions above those set out in the existing Schedule of Contributions. Conversely, if the position is better than expected
contributions may be reduced.
The Company expects to pay contributions of £435,000 in the year to 31 December 2022.
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is approximately 18 years.

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position
Plan assets:
Equities*
Bonds*
Index-linked gilts*
Diversified growth funds*

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

8,744
6,979
-

11,550
2,969
1,427

12,273

10,193

Leveraged liability-driven investments

7,349

5,593

Property

4,375

3,936

Other (cash)

2,544

Total market value of plan assets

42,264

Present value of plan liabilities

(42,241)

Surplus/(deficit) in the plan

(35)
35,633
(46,174)

23

(10,541)

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

(10,541)

(4,351)

(202)

(225)

-

(206)

* Assets held are predominantly quoted.
The pension scheme does not invest in any of the Bank’s own financial instruments.

Reconciliation of defined benefit asset/(liability)
Net defined benefit liability at beginning of period
Current service cost
Past service cost
Net interest expense
Remeasurements
Administration costs
Employer contributions
Net defined benefit asset/(liability) at end of period

Movement in the fair value of the plan's assets
Plan assets:
At 1 January
Interest on the plan assets

(68)
5,655
(339)

305

23

(10,541)

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

35,633

36,337

501

737

5,518

Benefits paid by the plan

(1,328)

Return on plan assets less interest
At 31 December

40

(290)

5,518

Employer contributions
Expenses paid by the plan

(91)
(5,683)

(339)

305
(2,546)
(290)

2,279

1,090

42,264

35,633
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Movement in the fair value of the plan's liabilities

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

46,174

40,688

202

225

Plan liabilities:
At 1 January
Current service cost
Past service cost
Interest costs

-

206

569

828

Benefits paid by the plan

(1,328)

(2,546)

Changes to financial assumptions

(3,147)

6,129

Changes to demographic assumptions
Experience (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation
At 31 December

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss account over the year
Current service cost
Past service cost
Administration costs

(9)

-

(220)

644

42,241

46,174

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

202

225

-

206

339

290

Interest on liabilities

569

828

Interest on assets

(501)

(737)

Total

609

812

Re-measurements over the year

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Gains on plan assets in excess of interest

2,279

1,090

220

(644)

Experience gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligation
Gains from changes to demographic assumptions

9

-

Gains/(losses) from changes to financial assumptions

3,147

(6,129)

Total gains/(losses) from re-measurements

5,655

(5,683)

Gains from changes to financial assumptions are mainly due to a significant increase in discount rates, partly offset by the negative impact of an increase
in inflation assumptions. The experience gain of £220,000 reflects the known inflation experience from the date of the last actuarial valuation on 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2021.

Actuarial assumptions
The value of the plan’s liabilities has been determined by a qualified actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at the reporting date, using
the following assumptions:
2021
2020
%
%

Discount rate
Inflation (RPI)
Inflation (CPI)
Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of revaluation of pensions in deferment
Increases on retirement benefits in payment in respect of service:
Before April 1997
From April 1997 – June 2005
From July 2005

Assumed life expectancy on retirement age 65:
Retiring today
Males
Females
Retiring in 20 years
Males
Females
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1.85%
3.45%
2.70%
2.50%
2.70%

1.25%
3.05%
2.30%
2.50%
2.30%

n/a
3.30%
2.30%

n/a
2.95%
2.15%

2021
years

2020
years

23.5
25.3

23.4
25.2

24.9
26.7

24.8
26.6
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Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the plan liabilities are set out below:


Increasing the discount rate by 1% decreases the plan liabilities by £6.4 million.



Decreasing the discount rate by 1% increases the plan liabilities by £8.2 million.



Increasing the inflation rate by 1% increases the plan liabilities by £2.8 million.



Decreasing the inflation rate by 1% decreases the plan liabilities by £3.2 million.



Decreasing the salary increase rate by 1% (increases are capped at the current assumption of 2.5%) decreases the plan liabilities by £0.9 million.



Increasing life expectancy by 1 year increases the plan liabilities by £1.8 million.



Decreasing life expectancy by 1 year decreases the plan liabilities by £1.7 million

The sensitivities are based on management’s best estimate of a reasonably anticipated change. The sensitivities are calculated using the same
methodology used to calculate the plan liabilities, by considering the change in the plan liabilities for a given change in assumption. There has been no
change in the calculation methodology since the prior period.

13. Taxation
The disclosures in sections (a) to (c) below pertain to the Group only.

(a) Income tax recognised in the income statement
Current tax expense:

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

UK corporation tax on profits/(losses) of the year
Adjustment for prior year

3,798
32

(958)
133

Total current tax expense/(credit)

3,830

(825)

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

(340)

(55)

Related to pension deficit

435

(96)

95

(151)

3,925

(976)

Total deferred tax
Total income tax expense/(credit)
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(b) Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income
Current tax:

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

(11)

12

Change in fair value of assets classified through other comprehensive Income
Deferred tax:
Remeasurement of defined benefit liability

699

(1,167)

Total income tax expense/(credit)

688

(1,155)

(c) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The total tax expense for the period is lower (2020: greater tax credit) than the UK corporation tax for the year of 19% (2020: 19%). The differences are
explained below:
2021
2020
£000's
£000's

Profit/(loss) for the year

17,080

Total tax expense/(credit) including tax on discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) excluding taxation

(3,959)

3,925

(976)

21,005

(4,935)

3,991

(938)

Tax expense/(credit) using the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2020: 19%)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions
Effect of tax rate change on deferred tax balances
Non-deductible items
Tax exempt revenues
Adjustment for prior years

1
(357)
258
32

Total tax expense (including tax on discontinued operations)

(34)
(93)
(45)
1
133

3,925

(976)

Factors that may affect future tax charges
The deferred tax asset and liability at 31 December 2021 have been calculated based on the rate applicable during which period the deferred tax asset
or liability is expected to reverse.

(d) Movement in deferred tax balances
Group
2021

Capital allowances
Debt instruments fair valued through
other comprehensive income
Pension gains
Pension contribution spread relief
IFRS 9 initial application
Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

2020

Capital allowances
Debt instruments fair valued through
other comprehensive income
Pension deficit
IFRS 9 initial application
Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
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Net asset/
(liability) at
1 January
£000’s
434
(11)
2,003

Credit/(charge)
Credit/(charge)
recognised in
recognised in
other
income comprehensive
statement
income
(Note 13a)
(Note 13b)
£000’s
£000’s
396
-

11

(1,310)

(699)

Net asset/
(liability) at
31 December
£000’s
830
-

Of which
deferred tax
assets
£000’s

Of which
deferred tax
liabilities
£000’s

830
-

-

-

6

-

875

-

875

875

-

521

12

-

533

533

-

(688)

2,232

2,238

6

Net asset/
(liability) at
31 December
£000’s

Of which
deferred tax
assets
£000’s

Of which
deferred tax
liabilities
£000’s

434
(11)

434
-

11

2,003

-

2,947

Net asset/
(liability) at
1 January
£000’s

(27)

Credit/(charge)
Credit/(charge)
recognised in
recognised in
other
income comprehensive
statement
income
(Note 13a)
(Note 13b)
£000’s
£000’s

359
1

75
-

(12)

740

96

1,167

541
1,641

(20)
151

1,155

(6)

2,003
521

521

-

2,947

2,958

11
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Bank
2021

Net asset/
(liability) at
1 January
£000’s

Capital allowances
Debt instruments fair valued through
other comprehensive income
Pension gains

406
(11)
2,003

Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

2020

11

(1,310)

(699)

Of which
deferred tax
assets
£000’s

Of which
deferred tax
liabilities
£000’s

747
-

747
-

-

-

6

875

-

875

875

-

465

33

-

498

498

-

(688)

2,114

2,120

6

Net asset/
(liability) at
31 December
£000’s

Of which
deferred tax
assets
£000’s

Of which
deferred tax
liabilities
£000’s

406
(11)

406
-

11

2,863

Net asset/
(liability) at
1 January
£000’s

Capital allowances
Debt instruments fair valued through
other comprehensive income

355
1

Pension deficit

740

IFRS 9 initial application
Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

341
-

Net asset/
(liability) at
31 December
£000’s

-

Pension contribution spread relief
IFRS 9 initial application

Credit/(charge)
Credit/(charge)
recognised in
recognised in
other
income comprehensive
statement
income
(Note 13a)
(Note 13b)
£000’s
£000’s

477
1,573

(61)

Credit/(charge)
Credit/(charge)
recognised in
recognised in
other
income comprehensive
statement
income
(Note 13a)
(Note 13b)
£000’s
£000’s

(6)

51
-

(12)

96

1,167

2,003

2,003

-

-

465
2,863

465
2,874

11

(12)
135

1,155

14. Segmental analysis
In the opinion of the Directors there is only one class of business and this is conducted entirely from the United Kingdom.

15. Loans and advances to banks
Analysed by remaining maturity:
Repayable on demand
3 months or less excluding repayable on demand
Total loans and advances to banks

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

32,651

20,586

30,538

4,082

562

4,082

20,203
562

36,733

21,148

34,620

20,765

16. Loans and advances to customers
Analysed by remaining maturity:
(gross carrying amounts)
Repayable on demand
3 months or less excluding repayable on demand
1 year or less but over 3 months
5 years or less but over 1 year
Over 5 years
Less credit impairment allowance (Note 30(A)(g)(iii))
Total loans and advances to customers
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Group
2021
£000's
415,607
41,599
134,090
742,293
9,729
(9,499)
1,333,819

2020
£000's
347,414
49,334
157,094
518,889
9,729
(21,334)
1,061,126

Bank
2021
£000's
409,752
41,599
134,090
742,294
(9,285)
1,318,450

2020
£000's
112,246
280,468
157,094
518,889
(19,430)
1,049,267
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Group
2021
£000's

Analysed by industry sector
(net of specific impairment)
Property
Commerce
Industrial
Other services
Hotels
Individuals
Total loans and advances to customers

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

2020
£000's

595,405
78,510
163,115
194,308
290,764
11,717

479,581
141,459
74,970
138,958
209,125
17,033

584,272
5,771
1,313
424,613
290,764
11,717

469,877
73,300
11,303
268,629
209,125
17,033

1,333,819

1,061,126

1,318,450

1,049,267

17. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
The fair value movements for debt securities fair valued through other comprehensive income are accumulated and recognised in reserves within other
comprehensive income. These reserves will cycle through the income statement under the occurrence of specific events such as disposals. Financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to re-pledge or resale by counterparties.

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

Debt securities
Issued by:
Government
Banks and Building Societies

-

7,502
-

-

7,502
-

Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

-

7,502

-

7,502

Analysed by remaining maturity
Due within one year

-

7,502

-

7,502

Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

-

7,502

-

7,502

2020
£000's

The following table presents an analysis by rating agency designation of debt securities based on Standard & Poor (S&P) ratings or their equivalent.
Group
Bank
2021
2020
2021
£000's
£000's
£000's

2020
£000's

AAA to AA-

-

7,502

-

7,502

Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

-

7,502

-

7,502

18. Shares in Group undertakings

Name

Activity

Principal Interest
Place of in Equity
Business Capital %

AIB Nominees Limited

Nominee

England

AIB Trustees Limited

Trustee for the Retirement Benefit Plan

England

Leumi ABL Limited

Factoring and Invoice Discounting

England

100%

Book value of investment
Opening balance
1 January 2021
£000’s

Change for
Closing balance
the year 31 December 2021
£000’s
£000’s

-

-

-

100%

-

-

-

100%

2,764

-

2,764

2,764

-

2,764

The group undertakings in the table above all make their financial statements up to 31 December. In respect of the above group undertakings, the Bank
does not have significant restrictions on its ability to access or use their assets and settle their liabilities other than those resulting from the supervisory
frameworks within which the banking undertakings operate. The supervisory frameworks require the banking undertakings to keep certain levels of
regulatory capital and liquid assets, limit their exposure to other parts of the Group and comply with other ratios.
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19. Property and equipment
The Group leases buildings, server cabinets and office machinery. The right-of-use carrying amounts of leased assets have been presented in the
statement of financial position under ‘Property and equipment’ alongside assets that have been purchased outright. Further disclosure pertaining to
leases can be found in Note 25 and 26. The Group had no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of computer and other equipment during
the year (2020: £Nil).

Group

Leasehold
improvements

Computer
and other
equipment

Right of use assets
(Note 26)
Property
Other
£000’s
£000’s

Total

£000’s

£000’s

Cost
At 1 January 2021
Additions
Disposals
Reassessed Leases
At 31 December 2021

4,458
(4,360)
98

8,513
404
(73)
8,844

1,647
3,598
(556)
4,689

463
83
(38)
508

15,081
4,085
(5,027)
14,139

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021
Charge for the year
Disposals
Reassessed Leases
At 31 December 2021
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2021
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2020

4,417
7
(4,360)
64
34
41

7,584
734
(72)
8,246
598
928

637
874
(556)
955
3,734
1,010

152
121
(38)
235
273
311

12,790
1,736
(5,026)
9,500
4,639
2,290

Leasehold
improvements

Computer
and other
equipment

Bank

Right of use assets
(Note 26)
Property
Other
£000’s
£000’s

£000’s

Total

£000’s

£000’s

Cost
At 1 January 2021
Additions
Disposals
Reassessed Leases
At 31 December 2021

4,360
(4,360)
(0)

7,905
380
8,284

648
3,598
(556)
3,690

463
83
(38)
508

13,376
4,061
(4,954)
12,482

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021
Charge for the year
Disposals
Reassessed Leases
At 31 December 2021
Net book value at 31 December 2021
Net book value at 31 December 2020

4,360
(4,360)
(0)
(0)

7,022
709
7,731
553
882

402
756
(556)
602
3,088
246

152
121
(38)
235
273
311

11,936
1,586
(4,954)
8,568
3,914
1,439
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£000’s
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20. Intangible assets
The Group invests heavily on the development of its Banking infrastructure and software capabilities to ensure the security of its data, customer’s data,
risk management capabilities, regulatory and legal requirements and service to customers.

Group

Bank

2021
£000’s

2021
£000’s

Cost
At 1 January 2021
Additions
Impairment
At 31 December 2021

22,725
456
(6)
23,175

22,454
301
22,755

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2021
Charge for the year
Disposals
At 31 December 2021
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2021
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2020

18,653
2,075
(6)
20,722
2,453
4,102

18,602
2,050
20,652
2,103
3,882

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Assets awaiting settlement
Acceptances and endorsements

2,872
1

2,908
754

1,994
1

2,645
754

Total other assets

2,873

3,662

1,995

3,399

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

21. Other assets

22. Deposits by banks
Analysed by remaining maturity
Repayable on demand
3 months or less excluding repayable on demand
1 year or less but over 3 months
5 years or less but over 1 year

6,902
13,139
674,833

7,109
300,237
18,241

6,902
13,139
674,833

7,109
300,237
18,241

Total deposits by banks

694,874

325,587

694,874

325,587

23. Customer deposits
Analysed by remaining maturity

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Repayable on demand
3 months or less excluding repayable on demand
1 year or less but over 3 months
5 years or less but over 1 year

195,276
145,150
294,442
12,186

277,190
196,466
187,286
8,998

195,279
145,150
294,442
12,186

287,827
196,466
187,286
8,998

Total customer deposits

647,054

669,940

647,057

680,577
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24. Subordinated liabilities
Group and Bank
LOAN NOTE 1 Notice
LOAN NOTE 2 Notice
LOAN NOTE 3 Notice
LOAN NOTE 4 Notice
LOAN NOTE 5 Notice
LOAN NOTE 6 Perpetual
LOAN NOTE 7 Perpetual

Interest
Fixing

2021
£000's

Rate of
Interest

2020
£000's

Rate of
Interest

3 monthly
3 monthly
3 monthly
3 monthly
3 monthly
3 monthly
3 monthly

3,580
1,249
30,647
7,507
2,516
3,006
5,008

0.850%
0.725%
0.600%
0.609%
3.214%
4.092%
1.001%

3,580
1,250
30,646
7,506
2,515
3,006
5,007

0.796%
0.671%
0.546%
0.545%
3.048%
4.041%
0.946%

53,513

53,510

The Notice subordinated Loan Notes are callable with a notice period of five years and one day given by either the Bank or the parent company, Bank
Leumi le-Israel B.M. They can be called at the next interest payment date and, after notice is given, the redemption will take place following the expiration
of five years and one day.
The Perpetual subordinated Loan Notes have an indefinite maturity period and, any repayment of capital at the option of the Bank can be made at the
earliest on the fifth anniversary of the date of drawdown of the loan. Advance notification of one month is required to be given to the Prudential
Regulation Authority before commencing repayments.
All subordinated loan notes are issued to the parent company, Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. The rights of the subordinated loan holders are subordinated
to the claims of all other creditors of the Bank.
The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its subordinated Loan Notes during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

25. Other liabilities
Group
2021
£000's
Lease Liabilities (Note 26)
Liabilities awaiting settlement
Acceptances and endorsements
Other creditors
Total other liabilities

4,234
1,382
1
6,518
12,135

2020
£000's
1,330
276
754
9,526
11,886

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

3,572
1,066
1
4,639

554
65
754
1,373

26. Lease Liabilities
(a) As a lessee
The Group leases buildings, server cabinets and office machinery. The most significant leases pertain to tenancy agreements for commercial property
and residential property for use by expatriate staff from the parent company, Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. The Bank entered into a lease at the
commencement of 2021 to occupy the Twelfth floor, 1 Angel Court, London and exited the premises of 20 Stratford Place by the middle of this period.
The latter had been treated as a short lease with the lease payments being £409,000 per quarter, including applicable VAT, payable in advance.

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flow obligations

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

- under 1 year
- 1 to 5 years
- over 5 years
Total undiscounted lease liabilities as at 31 December

1,018
2,942
386
4,346

448
886
189
1,523

892
2,501
386
3,779

322
256
578

Lease liabilities in statement of financial position at
31 December (Note 25)

4,234

1,330

3,572

554
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Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Expenses relating to short-term leases
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows
Total cash outflow for leases

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

96
55
57

152
2,042
60

84
55
2

12
2,042
3

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2019
£000's

1,432

2,196

1,300

2,397

There is a lease break option embedded in the commercial lease for Twelfth Floor, 1 Angel Court, London. Leumi UK will have the option to terminate
the lease early by giving not less than 12-months written notice before 27 th September 2024.

(b) As a lessor
The Group had sub-leased a portion of its London premises to a third party. This had been classified as an operating lease because they do not transfer
substantially all of the risk and rewards incidental to ownership of the property. The sub-lease ended on 24 th December 2020 and not renewed.

Maturity analysis - contractual lease payments receivable
- under 1 year
- 1 to 5 years
- over 5 years
Total undiscounted lease payments receivable as at 31 December

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Operating lease income recognised in the income statement

Group
2021
£000's
-

Group
2021
£000's
-

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's
7
7

2020
£000's

-

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's
164

-

7
7

2020
£000's
164

27. Provisions

Group

At 1 January 2021
(Credit)/Charge against profits
At 31 December 2021

Bank

At 1 January 2021
(Credit)/Charge against profits
At 31 December 2021

Bank Leumi (UK) plc and subsidiaries

Off balance sheet
commitments
and financial
guarantees
(Note 30(A)(g)(iii))
£000’s

Discontinued
operations
(Note 5)
£000’s

Total
£000’s

746
(290)
456

-

746
(290)
456

Off balance sheet
commitments
and financial
guarantees
(Note 30(A)(g)(iii))
£000’s

Discontinued
operations
(Note 5)
£000’s

Total
£000’s

746
(290)
456

-

746
(290)
456
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28. Called up share capital
Group
2021
£000's
Equity share capital
Authorised share capital: Ord. shares £1 fully paid
Issued share capital: Ord. shares £1 fully paid

20,000
14,324

2020
£000's
20,000
14,324

Bank
2021
£000's
20,000
14,324

2020
£000's
20,000
14,324

All ordinary shares confer identical rights in respect of capital, dividends, voting and otherwise to the shareholders. The Directors may, if they think fit,
from time to time pay to the shareholder such interim dividends as appear to the Directors to be justified by the profits of the Bank.
Capital management
The Bank calculates its capital and risk weighted assets (RWA’s) in accordance with CRD IV which gives effect to the Basel lll framework in the European
Union that is also part of the UK framework under the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018. The Bank has continued with the standardised approach
for credit and market risk, and the basic indicator approach for operational risk. Rules prescribed in the Capital Requirements Regulation determine the
RWA’s attributable to the Bank’s exposures, and these are multiplied by 8% to determine the Pillar 1 minimum capital requirements.
Pillar 2 assesses those risks which are either not adequately covered or not covered at all under Pillar 1 (Pillar 2A), as well as seeking to ensure that firms
can continue to meet their minimum capital requirements throughout a stress (Pillar 2B). Pillar 2A is expressed as a percentage of RWA’s and is referred
to as the ‘Individual Capital Requirement’ (ICR). The PRA requires firms to meet Pillar 2A with at least 56.25% Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (CET1) and
at most 25% in Tier 2 capital. CRD IV introduced new combined capital buffers which all firms are expected to meet as part of Pillar 2B. These buffers
must be met with CET1 capital and for Bank Leumi (UK) plc, include the capital conservation buffer and the countercyclical buffer. In addition, the PRA
sets an additional ‘PRA buffer’ to be included in Pillar 2B where the CRD IV buffers are deemed inadequate for a particular firm.
Pillar 2A and the PRA buffer are set by the PRA following a review and assessment of the Bank’s Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP).
The Bank regularly monitors its capital requirements under Pillar 1, Pillar 2A (combined, these are referred to as its ‘Total Capital Requirement’ or ‘TCR’)
and Pillar 2B against its capital resources to ensure that the level and quality of its capital remains sufficient at all times. The Bank monitors compliance
with the relevant regulatory capital requirement on a regular basis and has not reported any breaches during the year.
The following table is an analysis of those items which comprise the regulatory capital base for the purposes of reporting to the PRA. Disclosure is given
for the solo level, in line with how the Bank reports to the PRA, where the solo level is the aggregation of the Bank and its subsidiary Leumi ABL Limited.

Statement of financial position
Balance sheet:
Share capital
Share premium
Profit and loss reserve
Regulatory adjustments:
Deductions from Tier 1 capital
Add back under IFRS 9 transitional arrangements
Common Equity Tier 1 capital
Undated subordinated debt
Dated subordinated debt
Total Tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital
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Solo Level
2021
£000's
14,324
63,736
159,129
(7)

2020
£000's
14,324
63,736
137,140
24

1,005
238,187
8,000

3,060
218,284
8,000

45,466

45,466

53,466
291,653

53,466
271,750
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29. Financial assets and financial liabilities
Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. The accounting policies in Note 3(e)
describe how the classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The
tables below analyse the financial assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position by category of financial instrument to which they are assigned
and by the measurement basis under IFRS 9. All fair value through P&L (FVTPL) financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and the Bank are
‘mandatorily FVTPL’ as there have been no financial instruments ‘designated at FVTPL’ – please see Note 3(e)(2).

Group

31 December 2021
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivatives
Acceptances
Total financial assets
Total non-financial assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposit by banks
Customer deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Derivatives
Acceptances
Total financial liabilities
Total non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity shareholders' funds
Total Liabilities and equity

31 December 2020
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Acceptances
Total financial assets
Total non-financial assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposit by banks
Customer deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Derivatives
Acceptances
Total financial liabilities
Total non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity shareholders' funds
Total Liabilities and equity
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Mandatorily fair
value through
P&L
£000's

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
£000's

Amortised
cost
£000's

2,491
2,491

-

271,093
36,733
1,333,819
1
1,641,646

4,011
4,011

-

694,874
647,054
53,513
1
1,395,442

Mandatorily fair
value through
P&L
£000's

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
£000's

Amortised
cost
£000's

4,545
4,545

11,473
11,473

7,502
7,502

197,380
21,148
1,061,126
754
1,280,408

-

325,587
669,940
53,510
754
1,049,791

Total
£000's
271,093
36,733
1,333,819
2,491
1
1,644,137
13,634
1,657,771

694,874
647,054
53,513
4,011
1
1,399,453
21,072
1,420,525
237,246
1,657,771

Total
£000's
197,380
21,148
1,061,126
4,545
7,502
754
1,292,455
13,618
1,306,073

325,587
669,940
53,510
11,473
754
1,061,264
29,552
1,090,816
215,257
1,306,073
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Bank

31 December 2021
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivatives
Acceptances
Total financial assets
Shares in group undertakings
Total non-financial assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposit by banks
Customer deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Derivatives
Acceptances
Total financial liabilities
Total non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity shareholders' funds
Total Liabilities and equity

31 December 2020
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Acceptances
Total financial assets
Shares in group undertakings
Total non-financial assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposit by banks
Customer deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Derivatives
Acceptances
Total financial liabilities
Total non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity shareholders' funds
Total Liabilities and equity

Mandatorily fair
value through
P&L
£000's

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
£000's

Amortised
cost
£000's

Total
£000's

2,491
2,491

-

271,093
34,620
1,318,450
1
1,624,164

271,093
34,620
1,318,450
2,491
1
1,626,655
2,764
11,324
1,640,743

4,011
4,011

-

694,874
647,057
53,513
1
1,395,445

694,874
647,057
53,513
4,011
1
1,399,456
11,604
1,411,060
229,683
1,640,743

Mandatorily fair
value through
P&L
£000's

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
£000's

Amortised
cost
£000's

Total
£000's

4,545
4,545

7,502
7,502

197,380
20,765
1,049,267
754
1,268,166

197,380
20,765
1,049,267
4,545
7,502
754
1,280,213
2,764
11,932
1,294,909

11,473
11,473

-

325,587
680,577
53,510
754
1,060,428

325,587
680,577
53,510
11,473
754
1,071,901
17,216
1,089,117
205,792
1,294,909

The business model of the Bank is to make available funds for customer borrowing. The Bank intends to hold such exposure until contractual maturity collecting
cash flows that are solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI) in nature. Financial assets recognised under the following headings fall under this classification
for amortised cost accounting.

Cash and balances at central banks

Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to customers

Acceptances
With respect to financial liabilities, the Bank has not elected to designate any financial liability at fair value through the profit or loss. Consequently, the financial
liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.
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The Bank has evaluated expected credit losses (ECL) for all relevant financial assets. However, the expected credited loss under categories other than Loans and
advances to customers has been determined to be insignificant:
i)

Cash and balances at central banks:
The Bank has overnight funds placed on deposit with the Bank of England. The Bank has evaluated the expected credit loss of its deposit to be
insignificant.

ii)

Loans and advances to banks:
These comprise both overnight deposits and short-term money market deposits. The former are deposits with two Systemically Important Banks
(SIBs) subjected to additional capital requirements and supervision to strengthen liquidity and loss absorbing capacity to better withstand against
future financial crises. Similarly, the Bank’s term deposits are held with internally approved financial institutions, some of which are also SIBs. The
Bank has carefully evaluated the expected credit loss of its exposures against these counterparties and has determined it to be insignificant.

iii)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
These are high quality marketable debt securities to enhance the Bank’s liquidity position and included in the Bank’s liquid asset buffer of high quality
debt issued by central banks and financial institution counterparties to meet liquidity risk management requirements set by the Prudential Regulatory
Authority. The business objective of this mechanism meets the classification requirements of debt instruments fair valued through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments-FVOCI). The Bank has carefully evaluated these issuing counterparties and their capacity to repay, and
has determined the expected credit loss from these exposures to be insignificant.

Maturities of financial liabilities
The table below shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Group’s financial liabilities on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity.
For financial derivatives, the amounts included reflect the fair values at the reporting date as this is considered a good approximation of the liquidity risk
exposure arising from these positions. In practice foreign exchange option positions can close out earlier than contractual maturity but as these are
matched positions there would be no net impact on the Bank’s cash flows.

At 31 December 2021

Demand Up to 3 months
£000's
£000's

3-12 months
£000's

1-5years
£000's

Over 5 years
£000's

Total
£000's

Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer deposits
Derivatives
Subordinated liabilities
Acceptances

6,902
195,276
-

13,139
145,150
3,293
-

294,442
559
-

674,833
12,186
159
-

53,513
-

694,874
647,054
4,011
53,513
-

Total financial liabilities

202,178

161,582

295,001

687,178

53,513

1,399,452

At 31 December 2020

Demand Up to 3 months
£000's
£000's

3-12 months
£000's

1-5years
£000's

Over 5 years
£000's

Total
£000's

Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer deposits
Derivatives
Subordinated liabilities
Acceptances

7,109
277,190
591
-

196,466
8,357
552

300,237
187,286
1,646
202

18,241
8,998
879
-

53,510
-

325,587
669,940
11,473
53,510
754

Total financial liabilities

284,890

205,375

489,371

28,118

53,510

1,061,264

Valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:
Level 1:

Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

Level 2:

Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are considered less than active or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable
from market data.

Level 3:

Fair value measurements using inputs that are not based on observable market data

The Bank consider holdings in cash and cash equivalents and high quality government or quasi-goverment debt securities as Level 1. Derivative exposures,
primarily over-the-counter forward FX and interest rate derivatives are fair valued using observable market data and are classified as Level 2. If a
significant portion of an instrument’s carrying value is determined by unobservable inputs, the instrument is classified in Level 3. This means tthere is
little or no market data available to determine the level at which an arm’s length would likely to occur, although concensus pricing data may be used.
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The table below analyses financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurement is categorised. There have been no transfers between levels in 2021 nor the prior period 2020.

Group

31 December 2021
Level 1
£000's

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Acceptances
Total financial assets
Total non-financial assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposit by banks
Customer deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Derivatives
Acceptances
Total financial liabilities
Total non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity shareholders' funds
Total Liabilities and equity

Bank

Liabilities
Deposit by banks
Customer deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Derivatives
Acceptances
Total financial liabilities
Total non-financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity shareholders' funds
Total Liabilities and equity
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Level 3
£000's

Total
£000's

271,093
-

36,733
2,491
-

1,333,819
-

271,093
36,733
1,333,819
2,491
-

271,093

39,224

1
1,333,820

1
1,644,137
13,634
1,657,771

-

53,513
4,011
57,524

694,874
647,054
1
1,341,929

694,874
647,054
53,513
4,011
1
1,399,453
21,072
1,420,525
237,246
1,657,771

31 December 2021
Level 1
£000's

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Acceptances
Total financial assets
Shares in group undertakings
Total non-financial assets
Total assets

Level 2
£000's

31 December 2020

Level 2
£000's

Level 1
£000's

Level 2
£000's

Level 3
£000's

Total
£000's

197,380
-

21,148
4,545

1,061,126
-

197,380
21,148
1,061,126
4,545

7,502
204,882

25,693

754
1,061,880

7,502
754
1,292,455
13,618
1,306,073

-

53,510
11,473
64,983

325,587
669,940
754
996,281

325,587
669,940
53,510
11,473
754
1,061,264
29,552
1,090,816
215,257
1,306,073

31 December 2020
Level 3
£000's

Total
£000's

Level 1
£000's

Level 2
£000's

Level 3
£000's

Total
£000's

271,093
-

34,620
2,491

1,318,450
-

271,093
34,620
1,318,450
2,491

197,380
-

20,765
4,545

1,049,267
-

197,380
20,765
1,049,267
4,545

271,093

37,111

1
1,318,451

1
1,626,655
2,764
11,324
1,640,743

7,502
204,882

25,310

754
1,050,021

7,502
754
1,280,213
2,764
11,932
1,294,909

-

53,513
4,011
57,524

694,874
647,057
1
1,341,932

53,513
4,011
1
57,525
1,353,535
1,411,060
229,683
1,640,743

-

53,510
11,473
64,983

325,587
680,577
754
1,006,918

325,587
680,577
53,510
11,473
754
1,071,901
17,216
1,089,117
205,792
1,294,909
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Derivatives
The Bank holds derivatives for both economic hedging and non-hedging purposes. The derivatives held for hedging purposes are economic hedges
including Interest Rate Swaps, and ensure that the Bank keeps within its internal interest rate risk limits. These hedges do not meet the requirements
for hedge accounting.
Foreign currency forwards represent commitments to buy or sell foreign and domestic currency at agreed rates of exchange on a specified future date.
Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies,
or interest rates or a combination of both of these. No exchange of principal takes place, except for certain currency swaps. The Bank’s credit risk
represents the potential cost to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail to perform their obligation. The risk is monitored on an ongoing basis
with reference to the current fair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market.
Foreign currency and other options are contractual agreements under which the seller grants the purchaser the right, but not the obligation, either to
buy or sell at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amount of a foreign currency or a financial instrument at a predetermined price. Options
may be either exchange-traded or negotiated between the Bank and a customer. The Bank is exposed to credit risk on purchased options only, and only
to the extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value.
The fair value of a derivative contract represents the amount at which that contract could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction, calculated at
market rates at the balance sheet date. This equates to a replacement cost.
At 31 December the notional principal amounts and fair values of derivative instruments entered into with third parties were as follows:

Group

Notional
principal
£000’s

2021
Year end
positive fair
values
£000’s

Foreign exchange
Interest rate

463,898
26,600

2,491
-

Total derivative contracts

490,498

2,491

Bank

Notional
principal
£000’s

2021
Year end
positive fair
values
£000’s

Foreign exchange
Interest rate

463,898
26,600

2,491
-

Total derivative contracts

490,498

2,491
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Notional
principal
£000’s

2020
Year end
positive fair
values
£000’s

3,825
186

682,889
26,600

4,545
-

10,569
904

4,011

709,489

4,545

11,473

Year end
negative fair
values
£000's

Year end
negative fair
values
£000's

Notional
principal
£000’s

2020
Year end
positive fair
values
£000’s

3,825
186

682,889
26,600

4,545
-

10,569
904

4,011

709,489

4,545

11,473

Year end
negative fair
values
£000's

Year end
negative fair
values
£000's
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30. Risk management
Primary activities
Banking

Lending and deposit taking.

Financial instruments, which comprise loans and deposits, debt securities, spot foreign exchange contracts and derivatives are used to reduce risks arising
from the Bank’s main activities.
Derivatives with customers are traded on a matching basis with banking counterparties to cover all open positions and eliminate market risk. In addition,
the Bank sells forward foreign exchange contracts covered by expected future foreign currency income flow.
Debt securities are used to enhance the Bank’s liquidity position, and include the Bank’s Liquid Asset Buffer of high quality liquid assets held to meet
liquidity risk management requirements set by the Prudential Regulation Authority.
Risk management structure
The Bank has an integrated risk management structure with risk independently monitored by the Risk Control and Credit Risk Management Departments.
As a core function of its business, the Bank faces three main risk areas: Credit Risk, Operational Risk and Market Risk.
Under the risk management structure, committees have been established for each risk area which have the responsibility for recommending risk appetite
and policy for approval by the Board and for ensuring that the Bank’s aggregate risk remains within the risk appetite set by the Board. Risk arising out of
the Bank’s business is monitored daily, and the risk appetites are reviewed at regular intervals in light of prevailing market conditions.
Through this Risk Management structure, compliance with regulatory rules and requirements and ensuring that we treat our customers fairly, the Bank
seeks to minimise its reputational risk.

(A) Credit risk
This is one of the primary risks inherent in bank lending and can be defined as the risk that a borrower will not meet its obligations in relation to interest
payments and loan repayments. Impairment allowances are determined from an expected credit loss measurement approach incorporating forward
looking information.
Significant changes in the economy or economic forecasts, or in the health of a particular industry segment that represents a concentration in the Bank’s
portfolio, could result in changes to expected credit losses provided for at the reporting date. The Bank therefore carefully manages its exposure to
credit risk through an independent Credit Risk Management Department.
The Bank’s general policy is to mitigate credit risk by evaluating in every case the credit quality of the borrower and separately to evaluate the quality of
the collateral. The Credit Risk Management Committee is responsible for credit risk. The responsibility for the day to day management of credit risk lies
with the management and relationship managers.
The Bank uses internal credit ratings and credit grades to evaluate credit risk. It maintains a grading against all of its loans and advances according to the
underlying credit quality.
The maximum exposure to credit risk on the financial assets at the reporting date was £1,494 million (2019: £1,565 million). This amount excludes any
collateral which the Bank holds to mitigate its exposure.

(a) Credit quality analysis
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of the financial assets measured at amortised cost subject to expected credit losses
(ECL). This has been presented under four credit grading bands with band 1 ‘Normal grade’ being low credit risk, through to band 4 ‘Credit impaired’
being the highest credit risk and credit impaired (see Note 3(e)(5)). A financial asset presented under band 2 ‘Sensitive’ and in stage 1 is assessed not to
be Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR).
The amounts in the table for loans and advances to customers show the gross carrying amounts less ECL to arrive at net carrying value. For off balance
sheet commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table show the notional value of undrawn amounts and guarantees. The ECL
allowance attributable to these commitments is recognised within Provisions.
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Group
31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Gross carrying amount:
1. Normal grade
2. Sensitive
3. Watch list
4. Credit impaired
Less loss allowance
Net Carrying amount
Off balance sheet commitments and financial guarantee contracts
Undrawn commitment:
1. Normal grade
2. Sensitive
3. Watch list
4. Credit impaired
Loss allowance recognised in Provisions

31 December 2020
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Gross carrying amount:
1. Normal grade
2. Sensitive
3. Watch list
4. Credit impaired
Less loss allowance
Net Carrying amount
Off balance sheet commitments and financial guarantee contracts
Undrawn commitment:
1. Normal grade
2. Sensitive
3. Watch list
4. Credit impaired
Loss allowance recognised in Provisions
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12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

1,055,903
(1,249)
1,054,654

128,679
93,194
9,742
(2,260)
229,355

55,800
(5,990)
49,810

1,184,582
93,194
9,742
55,800
(9,499)
1,333,819

184,677
(327)

4,259
3,568
2,811
(129)

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

760,888
11,263
(3,348)
768,803

114,954
89,966
71,757
(5,976)
270,701

33,632
(12,010)
21,622

875,842
101,229
71,757
33,632
(21,334)
1,061,126

186,527
625

6,296
7,244
1,258
121

-

192,823
7,244
1,258
2
746

2
0

2
-

188,936
3,568
2,811
2
(456)
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31 December 2021
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Gross carrying amount:
1. Normal grade
2. Sensitive
3. Watch list
4. Credit impaired
Less loss allowance
Net Carrying amount
Off balance sheet commitments and financial guarantee contracts
Undrawn commitment:
1. Normal grade
2. Sensitive
3. Watch list
4. Credit impaired
Loss allowance recognised in Provisions

31 December 2020
Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Gross carrying amount:
1. Normal grade
2. Sensitive
3. Watch list
4. Credit impaired
Less loss allowance
Net Carrying amount
Off balance sheet commitments and financial guarantee contracts
Undrawn commitment:
1. Normal grade
2. Sensitive
3. Watch list
4. Credit impaired
Loss allowance recognised in Provisions

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

1,084,947
(1,158)
1,083,789

98,175
79,330
9,742
(2,241)
185,006

0
0
0
55,541
(5,886)
49,655

1,183,122
79,330
9,742
55,541
(9,285)
1,318,450

229,678
(327)

4,259
3,568
2,811
(129)

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

792,227
(3,251)
788,976

84,434
89,895
70,405
(5,854)
238,880

273,273
625

6,296
7,244
1,258
121

-

233,937
3,568
2,811
2
(456)

2
0

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

31,736
(10,325)
21,411

876,661
89,895
70,405
31,736
(19,430)
1,049,267

-

279,569
7,244
1,258
2
746

2
-

(b) Modified financial assets
Loans with renegotiated terms are defined as loans that have been restructured due to a deterioration in the borrower’s financial position for which the
Bank has made concessions by agreeing to terms and conditions that are more favourable for the borrower than the Bank had provided initially; otherwise
referred to as forbearance. Such loans are not derecognised (if the changes are not substantial, see Note 3(e)(3)) and continue to be presented as part
of loans and advances with renegotiated terms until maturity, early repayment or write-off.
The following table provides information of financial assets modified during the year:

Group
2021
£000's
Amortised cost value of financial assets before modification

107,531

2020
£000's
11,272

Bank
2021
£000's
107,531

2020
£000's
11,272

There was no modification gain/loss recognised for modified financial assets whose loss allowance was measured using lifetime ECL.
There were no modified financial assets who loss allowance has changed from lifetime to 12-month ECL in the reporting period and prior period.
Nor were there modified financial assets whose loss allowance had changed from 12-month ECL back to lifetime.
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The value of loans where their future cash flows have been modified, including associated specific and collective provisions, is as follows:

Group and Bank
2021
2020
£000's
£000's
Gross value of modified loans and advances

112,135

65,418

of which are credit impaired

3,901

-

Loss allowance

(1,424)

Net value of modified loans and advances

110,711

(2,190)
63,228

(c) Collateral held and other credit enhancements
The Bank holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. The general creditworthiness of a customer tends to be
the most relevant indicator of credit quality of a loan extended to it. However, collateral provides additional security and the Bank generally requires
collateral from borrowers. Collateral may take the form of i) cash, ii) first charge over real estate or land, iii) floating charges over specifically identified
plant and machinery or iv) floating charges over trade receivables.
A full review of collateral occurs when a loan is placed on watch list and is subsequently monitored more closely. For credit impaired loans, the Bank
may seek third-party appraisals, where applicable, for review by the Credit Risk Management Committee in determining credit risk actions.
At 31 December 2021, the Group and the Bank have £Nil loans and advances to customers (2020: £1,370,000) and £1,838,000 off-balance sheet
commitments and financial guarantees (2020: £14,137,000) for which ‘no loss allowance’ was recognised because of associated collateral.
During the period, there was no change in the Bank’s collateral policies.
The table below shows on a group basis the value of the various types of eligible collateral held (according to PRA criteria) in order to mitigate the
Bank’s credit risk and consequently reduce the Bank’s capital requirement on its credit risk exposures:

Cash
Bank guarantees
Total value of eligible collateral held

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

2,598

8,212

467

1,000

3,065

9,212

(d) Written-off financial assets subject to enforcement activity
There are no financial assets that were written-off during the period that are still subject to enforcement activity.

(e) Derivatives

The Bank maintains strict limits on net open derivative positions. At any one time, the amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of
instruments that are favourable to the Bank, which in relation to derivatives is only a small fraction of the notional values of the contract. This credit risk
exposure is managed as part of the overall lending limits with customers, together with potential exposures from market movements.

(f) Credit related commitments

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer in order that it can meet its commitments. Guarantees and
standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its
obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the
Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are
collateralised by the underlying shipment of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.
With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss for an amount equal to the total unused
commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon
customers maintaining specific credit standards. See Note 30(A)(a) for information on impairment allowances recognised under Provisions pertaining to
outstanding credit commitments.
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(g) Expected credit losses
(i) Inputs, assumptions and techniques for estimating impairment
The Bank incorporates forward looking information including expectations of future macro-economic variables such as GDP growth and changes in rates
of unemployment, and specific indicators which might be expected to have a material impact on a particular sector. These factors are incorporated into
the Bank’s measurement of ECL, for instance via its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial
recognition, and its estimates of absolute probability of default. Macro-economic variables have been weighted to reflect the Bank’s underlying country
risk exposure arising from the portfolio of financial assets. The Bank sources relevant external information, including economic data and forecasts from
governmental bodies and monetary authorities in countries where the Bank operates, supranational organisations such as the OECD, International
Monetary Fund (IMF), the World Bank and selected private sector and academic forecasters.
The Bank formulates a ‘base case’ view of the future direction of these economic variables 5 years ahead, as well as three other possible forecast
scenarios; a) an upside case, b) a downside case and c) a severe downside case. The outcomes derived from the range of scenarios are probability
weighted with the ‘base case’ representing the most likely outcome and is aligned with information used by the Bank for other purposes such as strategic
planning and budgeting.

(ii) Measurement of ECL
The measurement of ECL is based on the product of the financial asset’s probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default
(EAD), discounted to the reporting date. These parameters are derived from internally developed statistical models and other historic data, benchmarked
against externally sourced data where appropriate. They are adjusted to reflect forward looking information as described above. For portfolios in respect
of which the Bank has limited historical data, external benchmark information is used to supplement the internally available data. Where appropriate
adjustments have also been made to account for the specific impact of Covid-19 and associated Bank of England guidance. Specifically, as part of the
Bank’s year end credit oversight processes it was considered that an overlay to the modelled ECL was necessary to reflect the challenges that Covid-19
continues to make on the real economy. It was considered that the year-end macroeconomics reflected the future expected improvements in the
economy, but not the current and emerging difficulties that some borrowers will face. Accordingly an overlay was computed based on a scenario which
increased the year end probabilities of default used in the ECL modelling. The impact of this was an increase to ECL of approximately £1.5 million.
PD estimates are linked to the Bank’s credit grades and reflect, at the relevant point-in-time, the likelihood that a financial asset will become classified
as in default over the relevant time horizon. The Bank’s credit grades are calculated using internal models, utilising data comprising both quantitative
and qualitative factors. These internal grading models take into account relationships between an obligor and current and expected future economic
conditions. PD estimates also take into account current and expected future economic conditions, and as described above may be adjusted based upon
a variety of external actual and forecast information, from which the bank formulates a ‘base case’ view of the future direction of relevant economic
variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. Grading and PD models have been developed and calibrated internally
utilising a range of internal information, including performance and default data for its credit risk exposures analysed by geography, region, type of
product and borrower. Where appropriate information has been purchased from recognised external sources to help benchmark, refine and calibrate
the models.
The Bank uses LGD models to estimate the likely loss if there is a default. These models consider, amongst other things, the obligor industry sector,
collateral and other credit enhancements, and likely costs of recovery. LGD models have been developed and calibrated utilising historic internal recovery
data for defaulted financial assets, along with reference to recognised external recovery data and modelling approaches. As with PD estimates, LGD
estimates may be periodically adjusted, based upon external current and forecast economic information.
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives EAD from current exposure to the obligor and the potential changes
to the current amount allowed under the contract including amortisation. For lending commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD includes the
drawn amount as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and
forward looking forecasts.
The Bank has elected to apply its ECL measurement methods at the level of each individual financial asset, not collectively.

(iii) Summary of loss allowance
The below table is a summary of the aggregate expected credit loss attributable to loans and advances to customers and off balance sheet commitments
and guarantee contracts, according to IFRS 9.
2021

2020

Loss allowance:
Provision charges:
Loans and
off balance sheet
Advances to
commitments and
Customers financial guarantees
£000's
£000's
Group
At 1 January
(Credit)/Charge against profits
Recoveries net of operational losses
Amount written off
Foreign exchange and other movements
At 31 December
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Loss allowance:
Provision charges:
Loans and
off balance sheet
Advances to
commitments and
Total
Customers financial guarantees
£000's
£000's
£000's

Total
£000's

21,334
(7,395)
224
(4,534)
(130)

746
(290)
-

22,080
(7,685)
224
(4,534)
(130)

14,328
7,072
(52)
(172)
158

1,315
(569)
-

15,643
6,503
(52)
(172)
158

9,499

456

9,955

21,334

746

22,080
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2021

2020

Loss allowance:
Provision charges:
Loans and
off balance sheet
Advances to
commitments and
Customers financial guarantees
£000's
£000's
Bank
At 1 January
(Credit)/Charge against profits
Recoveries net of operational losses
Amount written off
Foreign exchange and other movements
At 31 December

Loss allowance:
Provision charges:
Loans and
off balance sheet
Advances to
commitments and
Total
Customers financial guarantees
£000's
£000's
£000's

Total
£000's

19,430
(7,286)
224
(2,953)
(130)

746
(290)
-

20,176
(7,576)
224
(2,953)
(130)

12,544
6,952
(52)
(172)
158

1,315
(569)
-

13,859
6,383
(52)
(172)
158

9,285

456

9,741

19,430

746

20,176

(iv) Changes in loss allowance
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of loss allowance and gross carrying amount of loans and advances to
customers by class of financial instrument. Explanation of the terms: 12-month ECL, lifetime ECL and credit impaired are included in Note 3(e)(5).
The Bank has evaluated ECL for all financial assets (those classified at amortised cost and debt instruments-FVOCI). However, the reported ECL under categories
other than Loans and advances to customers is considered insignificant (see Note 29).
Loans and Advances to Customers:

Group
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2021
Changes due to Loans and Advances recognised as at 1 January:
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
- Financial assets that have been derecognised during the year
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Write-offs
Net remeasurement of loss allowances
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020
Changes due to Loans and Advances recognised as at 1 January:
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
- Financial assets that have been derecognised during the year
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Write-offs
Net remeasurement of loss allowances
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020
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12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

3,348

5,976

12,010

21,334

(232)
1,774
(1,669)
623
(2,595)
1,249

232
(1,050)
(1,774)
(1,307)
475
(292)
2,260

1,050
(2,251)
(4,534)
(285)
5,990

(5,227)
1,098
(4,534)
(3,172)
9,499

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

2,810

3,903

7,615

14,328

(313)
(6)
444
(769)
1,371
(189)
3,348

313
(444)
(1,491)
287
3,408
5,976

6
(232)
(172)
4,793
12,010

(2,492)
1,658
(172)
8,012
21,334
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Loss allowance as at 1 January 2021
Changes due to Loans and Advances recognised as at 1 January:
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
- Financial assets that have been derecognised during the year
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Write-offs
Net remeasurement of loss allowances
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020
Changes due to Loans and Advances recognised as at 1 January:
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
- Financial assets that have been derecognised during the year
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Write-offs
Net remeasurement of loss allowances
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

3,251

5,854

10,325

19,430

(223)
1,667
(1,655)
601
(2,483)
1,158

223
(1,050)
(1,667)
(1,300)
470
(289)
2,241

1,050
(2,251)
(2,953)
(285)
5,886

(5,206)
1,071
(2,953)
(3,057)
9,285

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

2,689

3,810

6,045

12,544

(278)
(6)
443
(732)
1,326

278

(191)
3,251

(443)
(1,404)
216
3,397
5,854

6
(232)
(172)
4,678
10,325

(2,368)
1,542
(172)
7,884
19,430

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Provisions for off balance sheet commitments:

Group and Bank
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2021
Changes due to Loans and Advances recognised as at 1 January:
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
- Financial assets that have been derecognised during the year
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Net remeasurement of loss allowances
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020
Changes due to Loans and Advances recognised as at 1 January:
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Financial assets that have been derecognised during the year
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Net remeasurement of loss allowances
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020
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Total
£000's

625

121

-

746

(192)
(320)
310
(96)
327

192
(93)
1
(92)
129

-

(413)
311
(188)
456

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

702

613

-

1,315

(257)
127
(21)
625

(259)
19
(178)
121

-

(516)
146
(199)
746

Bank Leumi (UK) plc and subsidiaries

(v) Changes in gross carrying amounts of loans and advances to customers

Group
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Write-offs
Financial assets that have been derecognised
Foreign exchange and other movements
Other changes
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2021

Group
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Write-offs
Financial assets that have been derecognised
Foreign exchange and other movements
Other changes
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020

Bank
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Write-offs
Financial assets that have been derecognised
Foreign exchange and other movements
Other changes
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2021
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12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

772,151
(79,966)
85,459
441,481
(158,471)
(850)
(3,901)
1,055,903

276,677
79,966
(46,965)
(85,459)
7,724
(4,271)
(486)
4,429
231,615

33,632
46,965
(4,534)
(19,633)
(142)
(488)
55,800

1,082,460
449,205
(4,534)
(182,375)
(1,478)
40
1,343,318

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

873,595
(151,774)
(11,277)
34,980
280,734
(189,358)
1,629
(66,378)
772,151

246,944
151,774
(3,720)
(34,980)
4,183
(92,448)
(1,303)
6,227
276,677

31,020
14,997
(172)
(11,463)
2,053
(2,803)
33,632

1,151,559
284,917
(172)
(293,269)
2,379
(62,954)
1,082,460

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's

Total
£000's

792,227
(58,986)
72,729
306,263
(140,536)
(850)
114,100
1,084,947

244,734
58,986
(46,965)
(72,729)
(486)
3,707
187,247

31,736
46,965
(2,953)
(19,633)
(142)
(432)
55,541

1,068,697
306,263
(2,953)
(160,169)
(1,478)
117,375
1,327,735

63

Bank
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020
- Transfer to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 1 to Stage 2)
- Transfer to credit-impaired financial assets (to Stage 3)
- Transfer to 12-month expected credit losses (to Stage 1)
New Loans and Advances originated or purchased
Write-offs
Financial assets that have been derecognised
Foreign exchange and other movements
Other changes
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020

12-month ECL
(Stage 1)
£000's

Lifetime ECL
individually
assessed
(Stage 2)
£000's

928,843
(109,863)
(11,277)
33,200
167,636
(131,290)
1,629
(86,651)
792,227

225,924
109,863
(3,720)
(33,200)
3,114
(76,263)
(1,303)
20,319
244,734

Credit impaired
financial assets lifetime ECL
(Stage 3)
£000's
28,764
14,997
(172)
(11,284)
2,053
(2,622)
31,736

Total
£000's
1,183,531
170,750
(172)
(218,837)
2,379
(68,954)
1,068,697

(vi) Uncertainty and Sensitivity analysis

The loss allowance is sensitive to possible forecast scenarios specified in Note 30(A)(g)(i). A 10% increase in the weighting of the downside scenario
coupled with a corresponding 10% decrease in the weighting of the base case scenario is expected to increase loss allowances by £2,668,000. Similarly,
applying a full 100% weighting to the downside scenario only is expected to increase loss allowances by £4,839,000.

(B) Operational risk
The Board of Directors seeks to reduce operational risk to the minimum commensurate with the strategic objectives of the Bank. The Board recognises
that inherent operational risks cannot be completely mitigated and expect these risks to be managed appropriately and proportionately by the Bank’s
management.
The Bank has defined operational risk appetite in terms of qualitative and quantitative statements to manage such risks and understand the exposure
the Bank is willing to accept. The statements enable adequate corporate governance by the Board of Directors and Senior Management, which are taken
into account as part of the Bank’s activity and business behaviour.

(C) Market risk
The Bank seeks to engage in activities with only limited market risk exposure.
The Bank will only engage in transactions and instruments which would have a limited detrimental effect on the profit and loss of the Bank’s Treasury
department. The Bank will not enter into new products or markets without fully considering the market risks. The types of derivatives in which the Bank
will trade are limited to FX forwards and FX forward options.
Interest rate risk and FX risk are forms of market risks.

(a) Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book
Interest rate risk in the banking book (‘IRRBB’) is defined as the risk to the Bank's capital and earnings arising from adverse movements in interest rates
that affect the Bank's banking book positions. When interest rates change, the present value and timing of future cash flows change.
The Bank’s general policy in relation to interest rate risk is to impose strict limits on re-pricing mismatches, which will reduce possible losses.
The Bank monitors the interest rate sensitivity gap on a regular basis, calculating the net exposure by major currency and by re-pricing band, categorised
by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. The net exposure is determined as the Bank’s position in money market placements, loans and
deposits, foreign exchange positions and securities, and after off-setting the impact of interest rate swaps, if any. The net exposures are compared to
limits imposed by the Asset Liability Committee (ALCO). These limits are reviewed periodically by ALCO and, in conjunction with the Treasury Department,
revised limits may be adopted which are more representative of the current interest rate risk strategy in the current economic environment.
The Finance Department use the present value of the above assets and liabilities to calculate the possible loss of the Bank’s economic value in the event
of a 2% movement in interest rates. The possible loss is monitored compared to a limit of 1.5% of the Bank’s capital. At 31 December 2021 the possible
loss was £1.0 million (2020: £0.4 million) compared with a limit of £3.1 million (2020: £3.1 million).
In addition, the Finance Department calculate the impact on the Group’s earnings, including its subsidiaries, in the event of a 1% movement in interest
rates, and this is compared with an internal limit of 3.5% of the Group’s capital. As at 31 December 2021 the impact on earnings was 1.0% of the Group’s
capital (2020: 1.2%).
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(b) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
Leumi UK and its subsidiary Leumi ABL Limited each established their own cross-functional LIBOR reform working groups in 2020 to manage the transition
of GBP, EUR, CHF and JPY LIBOR to alternative benchmark interest rates. These four currency LIBORs had been prioritised given the fact that their
publication would cease after the end of 2021.
The working groups identified the population of financial assets and liabilities contractually referenced to LIBOR and kept abreast of guidance from
competent authorities with respect to market preferred methods of applying Risk Free Rates, and guidance from the Loan Markets Association for the
adoption of contractual wordings to support the application of alternative benchmark rates. The working groups also established support and training
materials to aid Relationship Managers and customers to reach agreement on how to modify Credit Facility Agreements to switch away from LIBOR
before the end of 2021.
The Group’s LIBOR exposure on floating-rate loans and advances to customers were predominantly Sterling LIBOR and some referenced to EUR LIBOR.
Daily Compounded SONIA with 5-banking day lookback and without observational shift, became the preferred alternative for Sterling floating rate
instruments. Term EURIBOR was selected as the alternative for EUR LIBOR.
Non-derivative Financial assets
Since mid-2021, all newly originated floating rate loans and advances to customers were referenced to alternative benchmark rates. As at the reporting
date, the vast majority of floating rate customer loans and advances were accruing interest at an alternative benchmark rate other than LIBOR. Only
3.5% of the balance of loans and advances to customers were accruing interest referenced to Sterling LIBOR fixed at an interest period start date prior
to the end of the reporting period. Of which, all have since agreed to switch to an alternative rate in their next interest period. There are no customer
loans and advances to customers requiring the use of synthetic LIBOR.
Non-derivative Financial liabilities
As at the reporting date all customer deposits are either fixed rate term deposits or notice deposits referenced to a Risk Free Rate. Agreement to switch
the Subordinated Loans from LIBOR to SONIA have been formalised soon after.
Derivative held for risk management purposes
The Group have interest rate derivative exposures for risk management purposes. As at the reporting date, the floating legs remain referenced to LIBOR
following a fixing prior to the end of the reporting period. Both parties to the derivative contract have continued to reaffirm their preference and
intention to switch to SONIA in the next interest period. The use of synthetic LIBOR will not become necessary.

(c) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is defined as the risk affecting open currency positions by fluctuations in exchange rates. The Bank’s general policy in relation to
foreign exchange risk is to match all positions and limit the total net overnight open position to £6 million (2020: £6 million). Overall responsibility to
manage foreign exchange risk lies with the Head of Treasury and Global Markets. The Risk Control Department monitors foreign exchange positions on
a daily basis and the end of day positions are reported by the Finance Department to the Executive Management of the Bank.
Overall foreign exchange open positions are very low and represent minimal risk.

2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Total open positions:
- long
- short

4,282
(32)

550
(1,393)

Net long/(short) open position

4,250

(843)

The Bank is primarily exposed to EUR and USD risk. These account for 93% of the long open position as at 31 st. December 2021.

(D) Liquidity risk
The Group’s Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) establishes an appropriate liquidity risk appetite. The aim of management is to
maintain a suitable, stable funding structure and sufficient liquidity in order to meet its financial obligations as they fall due, ensuring going concern even
under a defined stress horizon, whilst considering all relevant liquidity risk drivers and adhering to regulatory requirements.
The Group’s Liquidity Risk Appetite is defined as the minimum amount of liquid assets that are required in order to survive the most severe, but plausible,
liquidity stress scenario for a defined risk appetite horizon.
The European Commission’s Delegated Act with regard to the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) for credit institutions became fully effective on 1 January
2018, with a minimum required ratio of 100%. At the same time the UK’s Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA) advised the Group of its Individual
Liquidity Guidance, which is expressed as an amount of liquidity the Bank needs to hold above the minimum LCR requirement (referred to as Pillar 2
liquidity). The LCR was 635% (2020: 247%).
During 2021 the PRA finalised the implementation of some of the remaining Basel III standards which took effect from 1 January 2022. This included the
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), with a minimum required ratio of 100%. The Bank monitors its liquidity position on a daily basis and ensures that both
the LCR and NSFR are maintained above the prescribed minimum levels.
As at 31 December 2021 the Bank’s Liquid Asset Buffer exceeded the Group’s minimum liquidity regulatory requirements and the Board of Director’s
liquidity risk appetite. The level of Liquid Asset Buffer required is also verified with reference to the results of the Group’s internal liquidity stress, which
informs the Board’s liquidity risk appetite. Results of stress testing are assessed daily by management with reference to a liquidity model which estimates
the effect of the most severe liquidity stress on the Group’s cash inflows and outflows. This model is used to inform management of the overall liquidity
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impact of both idiosyncratic and market-wide stresses. The model is regularly reviewed and is documented as part of the Group’s Individual Liquidity
Adequacy Assessment.
The Group maintains sufficient liquidity capacity by maintaining an adequately diversified deposit base in terms of maturity, range of counterparties and
concentration. The sources of funding available to the Group comprise customer deposits and money market placements from our parent company,
Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. Management manage the customer deposit base by categorising the type of customers from whom we take deposits by nature
of their profile and perceived behaviour in stressed circumstances. Longer-term placements are encouraged through pricing mechanisms. The Bank also
ensures an appropriately matched future profile of cash flows from maturing assets.

31. Contingent and Other commitments
Refer to Note 26 for Lease commitments.
Capital expenditure

2021
£000’s

2020
£000’s

-

94

Capital expenditure contracted for:
By the group and Bank
Notional principal amounts of commitments and contingent liabilities

Group

Group
Contingent liabilities
Credit guarantees
Other guarantees
Documentary credits and short term trade related transactions

Bank

2021
£000’s

2020
£000’s

2021
£000’s

2020
£000’s

4,631
63
637

4,815
5,859
5,079

4,631
63
637

4,815
5,859
5,079

5,331

15,753

5,331

15,753

189,986

185,574

234,987

272,320

Commitments
Credit lines and other commitments to lend

32. Related party transactions
The Bank is 100% owned directly and indirectly by the parent company, Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M., which is listed on the Israeli stock exchange and whose
consolidated financial statements are therefore publicly available (Note 34).
Transactions between the Bank and the Bank’s Key Management Personnel and their connected persons are disclosed in Note 12(c).
The disclosures in the tables below of the income and expense recognised in the year and the balances at the year-end are considered to be the most
meaningful way to represent transactions during the year.
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Transactions of the Group with Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. and fellow subsidiaries of Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. are detailed below:

Group

2021
Parent Company

Other
subsidiaries

£000's
Income statement
Interest income
Interest expense
Fee and commission income

2020
Parent Company

Other
subsidiaries

£000's

£000's

£000's

(352)
3,562
109

83
6

(232)
3,280
99

19
188
12

Assets
Loans and advances to banks
Derivatives
Other assets

1,218
-

74
-

3,132
561

2,777
-

Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Deposits by customers
Derivatives
Subordinated liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

693,469
186
53,513
185

16,128
-

318,968
904
53,510
286

6,181
15,391
-

15

-

1,846

-

Contingent liabilities
Other guarantees
Documentary credits and short term related transactions

Transactions of the Bank with its subsidiaries, with Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. and with fellow subsidiaries of Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. are detailed below:

Bank

2021

2020

Parent Company

Other
subsidiaries

Parent Company

Other
subsidiaries

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

Income statement
Interest income
Interest expense
Fee and commission income
Administrative expenses

(352)
3,562
109
-

2,431
177
6
(134)

(232)
3,279
99
-

2,544
568
12
(109)

Assets
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and Advances to Customers
Derivatives
Other assets

1,218
-

74
391,562
239

3,132
561

2,777
250,533
954

693,469
186
53,513
185

16,131
-

318,968
904
53,510
286

6,181
26,028
-

15

-

1,846

-

Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Deposits by customers
Derivatives
Subordinated liabilities
Other liabilities
Contingent liabilities
Other guarantees
Documentary credits and short term related transactions
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33. Cash and cash equivalents
Non cash items included in profit before tax
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Provisions for loan impairment losses
Contributions paid into defined benefit plan
Amortisation of premiums over purchased financial instruments

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

1,736
2,075
(7,461)
342
112

1,424
1,848
6,456
812
(265)

1,586
2,050
(7,352)
342
112

1,184
1,828
6,337
812
(265)

(3,262)

9,896

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

(3,196)

Change in operating assets
Change in prepayments and accrued income
Change in financial derivatives
Change in loans and advances to banks
Change in loans and advances to customers
Change in other assets

Change in operating liabilities
Change in accruals and deferred income
Change in financial derivatives
Change in deposits by banks
Change in customer accounts
Change in other liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and balances at central banks
Loans and advances to banks of 3 months or less

Group
2021
£000's

10,275

2020
£000's

(44)
2,054
(265,538)
789

2,096
1,349
68,560
(91)

(73)
2,054
(262,121)
1,404

2,020
1,349
114,145
(343)

(262,739)

71,914

(258,736)

117,171

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

1,198
(7,462)
369,289
(22,886)
(2,000)

543
(8,754)
17,274
(40,813)
8,325

515
(7,462)
369,289
(33,520)
705

1,028
(8,754)
17,274
(76,067)
(693)

338,139

(23,425)

329,527

(67,212)

Group
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

Bank
2021
£000's

2020
£000's

271,093
36,733

197,380
21,148

271,093
34,620

197,380
20,765

307,826

218,528

305,713

218,145

Total interest paid by the Group during the year was £7,465,000 (2020: £13,214,000). Total interest received by the Group during the year was
£42,190,000 (2020: £42,644,000).

34. Ultimate parent company
The Bank is a subsidiary of Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M, which is incorporated in Israel.
The largest and smallest group in which the Bank is consolidated is that headed by Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M. The consolidated financial statements of
this Group are available to the public and may be obtained from the Head Office in Israel at P.O.Box 2, 24-32 Yehuda Halevi Street, Tel Aviv 65546, Israel
or from the Group web site: www.bankleumi.com
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35. Post balance sheet events
There have been no material post-balance sheet events which would require adjustment to the 31 December 2021 financial statements.
On 24 February 2022, Russia commenced a large-scale invasion against Ukraine. In response, some Western contries, including the UK, have moved to
impose broad-based sanctions targeting Russia, including but not limited to certain Russian banks and the Russian Central Bank, companies,
parliamentary members and high-profile individuals and their families. It is possible that additional sanctions and other measures may be imposed in the
future. The Bank conducted an extensive review of Russian and Ukranian exposure in early March 2022. Management expect no significant impact to
the Bank’s business. However, the first and second line of defence have been placed into heightened alert in addition to more regular monitoring of
sanction rules.
In March 2022, the Directors of the Bank announced a business restructure proposal, which may involve the reassignment of assets from Bank Leumi
(UK) plc to its wholly owned subsidiary Leumi ABL Limited at an unspecified future date as described in Note 1(d).
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For further information on Bank Leumi (UK) plc
Banking and Financial Services
Please contact:
Corporate Banking

Chief Business Officer
Andy Mallin
020 3772 1818

Property Finance
Peter Clayton
020 3772 1740

Hotel Finance
Louise Gillon
020 3772 1751

Leumi ABL Limited

Chief Executive Officer
Phil Woodward
01273 716202

Chief Operating Officer
Alan Couzins
01273 716203

Corporate Deposits

Head of Liabilities
Sarah Ryman
020 3772 1624
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The Bank Leumi le-Israel Group
International Addresses
ISRAEL
Bank Leumi le-Israel B.M.
24-32 Yehuda Halevi Street, Tel Aviv 65546
www.leumi.co.il
Bank Leumi has some 200 branches in Israel
Leumi Private Banking Division
35 Yehuda Halevi Street
Tel Aviv 65546
Tel: +972 76 885 7717
email: private@bll.co.il

Subsidiary Banking companies
Leumi Partners Ltd
5 Azrieli Center 5, 36th Floor
132 Menachem Begin Rd
Tel Aviv 67025
Tel: +972 3 5141212
Fax: +972 3 5141275
email: info@leumipartners.com
www.leumipartners.com
LeumiTech
34 Yehuda Halevi St.
Tel Aviv 61000
Tel: +972-76-8856297
www.leumitech.com

UNITED KINGDOM
Bank Leumi (UK) plc
Twelfth Floor, 1 Angel Court
London EC2R 7HJ
Telephone 44 (0) 20 3772 1500
Facsimile 44 (0) 20 3772 1501
www.bankleumi.co.uk
Leumi ABL Limited
Pacific House
126 Dyke Road
Brighton BN1 3TE
Telephone 44 (0) 01273 716 200
Facsimile 44 (0) 01273 716 210
www.leumiabl.co.uk
www.bankleumi.com
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Your Financial Partner
For more information, please contact:
Bank Leumi (UK) plc
Twelfth Floor, 1 Angel Court
London EC2R 7HJ

Tel: +44 (0) 203 772 1500
Fax: +44 (0) 203 772 1501
Email: info@bankleumi.co.uk
www.bankleumi.co.uk

Bank Leumi (UK) plc is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Predential Regulation Authority.

